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I am delighted to present the Annual Report of the Mindarie Regional Council for the
year ended 30 June 2007.

The major achievements by the Council during the year can be summarised as
follows:

4 The continued provision of world class services for waste disposal to landfill for
over 500,000 customers in the region

4 The continued expansion of our recycling business, particularly in regard to the
management of household hazardous waste, household hazardous waste,
electronic waste, cardboard/paper and cooking oil.

4 Expansion of our electricity generation capability via landfill gas

4 Continued good work by a Community Engagement Advisory Group (CEAG)
and their advisors, on matters related to our Resource Recovery Facility

4 The development of a business plan FY 2007/2008

4 The completion of further construction of landfill cells in the Stage 2 area,
namely Stage 2, Phase 2 East and West.

4 The further utilisation of those completed landfill cells in the Stage 2 area.

4 The development of a concept for waste management education in the region,
and the activation of the Council’s Waste Education Strategy Steering Group
(WESSG).

4 Continuation of our work to establish a Resource Recovery Facility

4 The commencement of a project to revise the Council’s branding.

4 Further improvements to the Council’s business systems, particularly in relation
to financial management.

The Council has continued to be involved in a number of external forums during the
year, and these have included the Municipal Waste Advisory Council, and the
associated Officers Advisory Group, the Forum of Regional Councils (FORC), the
metropolitan branch of Local Government Managers Australia, and the Waste
Management Association Australia (Western Australian Division).

The corporate management of the Council’s business continues to be excellent, and
this has been substantiated through the completion of the 2006/2007 audit by the
Councils auditors. A copy of the audit report is included in this document.  The good
financial management of the finances of the Council is reflected in the healthy
financial position of the Council as at 30 June 2007.

The Council is faced with a number of challenges for the future. The management of
the existing landfill, including the continuation of work on the Stage Two facility, will
be crucial for our ongoing operations. In addition, the Council will face major issues
in its pursuit of a resource recovery capability, including the ongoing engagement
with the regional community, the finalisation of conditions associated with signed
contracts, and commencement of construction, and the identification of a landfill
capability beyond Tamala Park.

I thank all elected members of the Council for their work over the reporting year. I
also express my appreciation to the customers of our Council, as well as those who
provide an extensive range of consultative and logistical services to our business.  I
also thank those dedicated officers from our Member Councils for their continuing
contribution to our business.  Next, I thank Kevin Poynton, Chief Executive Officer,
and the staff based at Tamala Park, for their continued good work in the execution of
our business activities to an excellent standard. I would like to express thanks to
Doug Lambert and those other community representatives who form our Community
Engagement Advisory Group - thank you for your excellent work and generous
devotion of time and effort to this work.

I commend this Annual Report to you.

Councillor Trevor Clarey
Chairman

Chairman’s Report
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It is with pleasure that I present my report on the business of the Mindarie Regional
Council for the year ending 30 June 2007.  The business of the Council is described
in two broad dimensions:

v Management of current operations

v Projects

CURRENT OPERATIONS

Landfill Activity
The key business activity of the Council is disposal of waste to landfill at the Tamala
Park Refuse Disposal Facility.  Details of this disposal for the year ending 30 June
2007 are as follows:

Member Councils

City of Joondalup 71,419 tonnes
City of Perth 15,909 tonnes
City of Stirling 80,536 tonnes
City of Stirling Bales 22,952 tonnes
City of Wanneroo 65,810 tonnes
City of Wanneroo Residence 5,813 tonnes
Town of Cambridge 12,073 tonnes
Town of Victoria Park 13,123 tonnes
Town of Vincent 13,508 tonnes

301,143 tonnes

Other Depositors

City of South Perth 9,417 tonnes
Other Casuals 41,984 tonnes
Cover and Recycling Centre 23,997 tonnes

376,541 tonnes 

The receipt and processing of waste has been as
follows:

Total Tonnage of waste received

Consisting of:

l  Waste to landfill
- General Waste 352,544 tonnes

Recycling Activity

The Council conducts a number of programmes which are designed to optimise the value of resources disposed to
Tamala Park.  These programmes are as follows:

The disposal of selected reusable resources to the
public, on a fee for purchase basis, for reuse. This
results in an annual income, the amount for financial
year 2006/2007 being $327,465.

The disposal of particular waste streams, for recycling,
in order to either, maximise their further use or minimise
their harmful impact to the environment.

These waste streams include:
w Metal
w Oil
w Cardboard/paper
w Batteries
w Household hazardous waste
w Paint
w Glass

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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Recycling Centre, Tamala Park.

Landfilling begins on a
new section of the
Stage 2 Phase 2 site at
Tamala Park.
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Staff
The Council has operated with a compliment of 35 permanent full-time and part-time staff during the year. The Enterprise
Bargaining Agreement, established previously, has worked well.  

Our staff have continued to operate in a professional, diligent and co-operative manner through the year and should be
congratulated on their endeavours. All staff have been provided opportunities for training in areas relevant to their work.
The annual review of the Chief Executive Officer was successfully conducted by the Council in April/July 2007.

Customer Issues
Our Tamala Park team have continued to deliver excellent service to our customers during the year.  

Facilities
The Council’s improved administration facility has been in operation since September 2000, and continues to be a
valuable component of our business. The training room is utilised widely for meetings, workshops, training and social
events.  

The Council has continued to meet at the facilities of Member Councils, and the hospitality of the Member organisations
is to be applauded.  

In addition, the co-operation of the City of Stirling, Town of Vincent and Town of Cambridge should be noted, with particular
reference to these organisations ability to provide facilities for a range of events including working group meetings,
workshops and other forums.

Improvements to facilities at Tamala Park, including the administration centre, are planned for the Financial Year
2007/2008.

The establishment of infrastructure at the Neerabup Resource Recovery facility site, is scheduled to commence in the
Financial Year 2007/2008.

Plant and Equipment
The Council continues to operate a fleet of contemporary equipment.  The use of hire equipment, where appropriate, is
occurring, and this includes a tracked earthmoving item for work on landfill batters, and elsewhere.

MARMION AVENUE

ENTRY

ADMINISTRATION

GAS POWER STATION

STAGE 2 PHASE 1 LANDFILL

STAGE 2 PHASE 2 LANDFILL

STAGE 1 - Revegetation in progress

LIMESTONE STOCKPILE

DOMESTIC WASTE
TRANSFER STATION

RECYCLING CENTRE
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Tamala Park Waste Disposal and Recycling Facility
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Occupational Safety and Health
The Council has continued to implement best practice Occupational Safety and Health systems and currently has a
certified Occupational Safety and Health Officer.

Governance
The Council has conducted its business in accordance with its previously completed Business Manual.  Appropriate
amendments to this manual have occurred during the reporting year.  The Council’s Business Manual is under review, and
this should be completed during 2008, with respect to Council policies.

In addition the Council continues to operate contemporary governance systems, in accordance with the appropriate
legislation.

Records Management 
The MRC Record Keeping Plan was formally approved by the State Records Office for a 5 year period until 2010.

The electronic system which is capturing the MRC records electronically in conjunction with the original paper based filing
system is in Phase 2 of its development with training programmes completed with Corporate and Operational staff during
2006.  Training is ongoing for all new staff with in house training for Corporate and Operations staff via the MRC Records
Officer. 

Retention schedules and electronic triggers for management of  files and documents for archiving have been set in place
to ensure compliance with State Government Records legislation.

The progression into a fully electronic document management environment was completed during 2007.

Promotion
The Council continued to host a variety of groups of visitors during the reporting year.  These have included school
groups, overseas visitors, representatives of government, other Council groups, and members of the public.  The Council
conducted a successful Corporate Function at the Matilda Bay Function Centre during the reporting year.  Regular editions
of a newsletter – Tamala Tips – have been produced and circulated widely.

The Council commenced a project, during 2007, to revise its branding.

To help reduce the volume of compacted waste, and recycle additional metals, the MRC is reviewing the option of
shredding the bulk waste received from Councils’ verge collections. To date, this has involved visiting other landfills that
have been shredding waste, and undertaking a full-scale shredding trial at Tamala Park to determine the potential
volume savings to the landfill operation.
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Regulatory Issues
The Council continues to maintain an excellent working relationship with the Department of Environment and
Conservation resulting in the continued renewal of licence conditions for the Tamala Park operation.  The annual
Environmental Compliance Audit was again conducted by Consultants from URS and the results from this exercise were
pleasing.  In addition, the Council has worked closely with the CSIRO in regard to Groundwater Management.  

The administration is working with DOE staff to develop an improved licence model for the site, and this will be completed
in early 2008.

Regional Cooperation
The Council has continued to cooperate on a regional basis with others.  Examples of this work include:

4 The continued sharing of information with other Regional Councils, via the Forum of Regional Councils (FORC).

4 Continued involvement of staff in the planning and execution of the annual Waste and Recycle Conference.

4 Continued involvement of staff in training activities, particularly in relation to landfill operations, for other industry
participants.

Landfill Operations
The Council continues to operate the largest Class Two landfill facility in metropolitan Perth in accordance with best
practice.  Compaction standards have been satisfactory.  Work has continued on the management of landfill gas from the
existing landfill, and the development of a Stage Two landfill.  A number of operational improvements have occurred
during the year, including the exploitation of existing limestone using a crusher facility.
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Landfilling underway in the Stage 2 Phase 2 pit at Tamala Park.
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PROJECTS

The Council has conducted the following projects during the reporting year:

4 Implementation of the landfill engineering plan for Stage One, particularly
in relation to vegetation management

4 The continuation of extensive groundwater investigative tasks by CSIRO

4 Further works associated with development of a Stage Two Landfill

4 Further work associated with the management of landfill gas produced
from the Stage One Landfill, including generation of electricity

4 Progress of work associated with the introduction of a resource recovery
facility to the region, including the work of a community engagement group, liaison with City of Wanneroo on planning
matters, and progress of work to satisfy the contractual conditions appointment of a Contractor

4 The introduction of an upgraded Financial and Payroll systems for the Council.

Financial Issues
The Council has continued to operate in accordance with previously approved financial precepts. The audit of the
Financial Statements for the Year end 30 June 2007 has been completed. The Council has approved Budget 2007/2008
for implementation at its July 2007 Council Meeting.

The administration has conducted a series of financial workshops during the reporting year, with the view to establishing
an agreed Cost Recovery Financial Model and a long term financial plan by early 2008.

Future Directions

The Council has in place its key plans, namely, a Strategic Plan, a Business Plan for 2007/2008, and an approved Budget
2007/2008.  Significant projects for the coming year are:

4 The continuation of the exploitation of landfill gas, within sections of the Stage Two Landfill

4 The continuation of construction of cells in the Stage Two landfill

4 The revision of the Council’s Regional Waste Management Plan in the form of a Zero Waste Plan

4 Further work associated with the introduction of a resource recovery capability within the region, including finalisation
of contract and commencement of construction

4 Implementation of the Council’s revised financial management model

4 Adoption of an improved governance instrument, in the form of an Establishment Agreement

4 Implementation of the Regional Education Plan.

Conclusion
In summary, I wish to express my appreciation to a number of individuals and groups for their work during the year.

4 The Council’s Chairman, Cr. Trevor Clarey

4 The Council’s Deputy Chairmen, Cr Bruce Stevenson and Cr Rod Willox

4 The Chairman of the Council’s Secondary Waste Treatment Facility Working Group, Cr Rod Willox

4 All those other Councillors who have participated in various forums associated with Council’s business

4 Those Officers from Member Councils, who have been heavily involved in forums such as the Technical Working
Group and Secondary Waste Treatment Facility Working Group

4 Chief Executive Officers of the Member Councils

4 The staff of the Mindarie Regional Council, particularly the Managers – Mr Kalwant Dhillon, Mr Mike Tolson, Mrs Sue
Bush and Ms Kathleen Ferridge

4 The excellent work of our Project Manager, Ian Watkins

4 All those customers of the Council’s business

4 Those external providers including Consultants, trades people, suppliers and government agencies

4 The local community, for their continued interest and involvement in the Council’s business.

Kevin F Poynton

Chief Executive Officer
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Groundwater monitoring

Member Council officers attend an MRC Council meeting
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The Mindarie Regional Council approved a Strategic Plan in February 2003, which was revised and approved by the
Council at the February 2006 Ordinary Meeting.  This Plan is for the period 2006 – 2009.

Key elements of the plan include the following:

4 A Mission Statement

4 Objectives

4 Strategies associated with each Objective.

The mission of the Mindarie Regional Council is:

To provide effective, cost efficient and environmentally sound waste and other resource management services 
for the benefit of the region.

The Council’s current suite of Objectives are as follows:

Objective One – Resource Management

To operate defined programmes associated with waste and resource management in accordance with best appropriate
practice.

Objective Two  - Resource Business Creation

To identify opportunities to address waste streams in addition to domestic waste.

Objective Three – Industry Leadership

To provide leadership in the waste and related resource industry.

Objective Four – Organisational Management

To ensure excellent organisational management through improvement of the Council’s business and management
systems.

The Council has agreed a series of strategies, and associated outcomes, to enable the achievement of these objectives.
The Council constructs an Annual Business Plan, in February each year, which provides a basis for action in the
forthcoming year, as well as the basis for the Annual Budget.

The Council’s Strategic Plan
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Council meeting in progress.
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Annual Business Plan 2006/2007
Performance Summary

The Council’s Annual Business Plan for the Year 2006/2007,  together with associated performance outcomes, is described
here.

Objective One: Resource Management

Approved Action: v Develop and implement resource management programs, particularly for landfill, recycling and reuse
in accordance with State Government requirements.  Eg.  Site licence

Progress: 4 Programmes conducted in accordance with regulatory requirements

Approved Action: v Develop revised Master Plan for Tamala Park

Progress: 4 Project commenced, for continuation 2007/2008

Approved Action: v Execute bush management activities as follows:

-  implement limited bush management on completed landfill area, and other areas

Progress: 4 On-going

-  finalise Bush Management Plan 

Progress: 4 This will be progressed in 2008 on completion of Master Plan

Approved Action: v Implement gas management plan, including collection of revenue   

Progress: 4 Plan progressing according to contractual arrangements.  Revenue collection progressing 
satisfactorily

Approved Action: v Execute groundwater management activities as follows:

-  Maintain existing groundwater monitoring via CSIRO

-  Implement plan for groundwater monitoring, West of Marmion Avenue

Progress: 4 Annual ground water report completed.  Nil issues

- Implement plan for modelling of potential groundwater impact on coastal environment

Progress: 4 Modelling project for completion December 2007

Approved Action: v Progress Resource Recovery Facility by actions as follows:

- Complete tender activity and appoint contractor

- Develop Mindarie Regional Council community liaison programme for Resource Recovery Facility

Progress: 4 Contractor appointed and contract signed and Financial Close (completed in November
2007)

Approved Action: v Develop revised Regional Concept for Waste Management, including community engagement and
education, in accordance with best practice

Progress: 4 Regional Concept developed and strategies being translated into action plans, particularly
in relation to Waste Education Strategy

Approved Action: v Plan and implement Community Engagement Plan 2006/2007including newsletters, publicity, Annual
Report and Corporate Function and educational activities

Progress: 4 Communication Plan activities completed in accordance with plan

Approved Action: v Progress the alignment of waste management services within the region, particularly in regard to
collection and disposal of hazardous waste

Progress: 4 For action
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Objective Two: Resource Business Creation

Approved Action: v Investigate business opportunities associated with

- Expanded resource recovery capabilities, including Resource Recovery Park

Business opportunities progressed for Financial Year 2006/2007 as follows:

Progress: 4 Programmes developed and implemented for:
- Asbestos
- Batteries
- Paint
- Cooking oil
- Oil
- Reusable material
- Limestone usage
- Metal
- Cardboard/paper
- E-waste

Approved Action: v Landfill “beyond Tamala”

Progress: 4 A project to define options for landfill post ‘Tamala Park’ and recommendations is
scheduled for completion February 2008

Objective Three: Industry Leadership

Approved Action: v Participate in defined external industry-related forums eg. MWAC, WMAA, WALGA

Progress: 4 Continued consistent participation by elected members and officers in MWAC events

Approved Action: v Research contemporary practice for future waste and resource industry development, service
delivery and waste education

Approved Action: v Develop integrated initiatives to capitalise on these future options

Approved Action: v Strengthen partnerships with Government, industry and academic institutions in order to promote
improvement in waste management sector

Progress: 4 CEO Leadership Project to identify State Government opportunities completed.  

Progress: 4 Plan for sponsor of Masters Student at ECU completed.

Objective Four: Organisational Management

Approved Action: v Finalise Establishment Agreement

Progress: 4 For completion 2007/2008.

Approved Action: v Maintain and improve existing contemporary business systems, eg finance, procurement, project
management, customer service and marketing

Progress: 4 Navision upgrade completed.

Approved Action: v Strengthen Member Council partnerships and relations

Progress: 4 FORC activities completed.

Approved Action: v Review and, where appropriate, revise funding strategies for the business

Progress: 4 Strategic Financial Plan for completion February 2008

Approved Action: v Develop the information management system eg. Records, website, knowledge, for the business

Progress: 4 Strategic IT Plan for completion February 2008
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Limstone block-making 
at Tamala Park.
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The Mindarie Regional Council (MRC) was constituted under the Local Government Act 1960 (as amended) which
provided that two or more Municipalities may enter into and submit for Ministerial approval an agreement proposing
constitution of a Regional District.

The Constitution Agreement provides for the establishment of a Regional Council and designation of the function or
functions to be performed by the Regional Council within the Region. 

In 1981 the Cities of Perth, Stirling and Wanneroo, appreciating the likely future need of a site for waste disposal in landfill,
jointly acquired lot 17 Mindarie; having assessed that it possessed a number of characteristics which suggested suitability
for this purpose. The site has an area of 432 hectares.

In due time the need was realised and management arrangements were prepared. It was decided that the formation of a
Regional Council was the advantageous vehicle of management and the order of His Excellency the Governor in
Executive Council was granted for the creation of the Mindarie Regional Council on 22 December 1987.

Commencing in 1988, studies were undertaken and reports prepared for environmental assessment of the site.  Approval
was secured and the subsequent preparation of an Environmental Monitoring and Management Programme (EMMP)
undertaken. The Environmental Protection Authority granted approval to the programme on 24 January 1990.

An area of 251 hectares within Lot 17 and fronting Marmion Avenue became the subject of lease to the Mindarie Regional
Council with the city owners retaining possession of the balance of Lot 17. The area was entitled “Tamala Park”.  

Development of a well-engineered facility followed and the site was opened to receival from depositing Cities of Perth and
Wanneroo on 25 February 1991. Community utilisation began on 1 June 1991. Since that time, the Towns of Cambridge,
Victoria Park and Vincent (formed from the City of Perth restructure) commenced disposal.  The City of Stirling commenced
utilisation of the facility in April 1999.  The City of Joondalup (formed from the City of Wanneroo restructure) commenced
disposal from 1 July 1999 as a separate entity to that of the City of Wanneroo. The population served by the facility is
approximately 500,000 persons.

Overview

Map showing the geographic spread of the Mindarie Regional Council.
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The Constitution Agreement of the Mindarie Regional Council has been drawn pursuant to the provisions of section 697
of the Local Government Act 1960 (as amended) having been formally approved by the Minister for Local Government and
recommended to the Governor in Executive Council on 22 December 1987.  

The designated function accorded to the MRC is 

“The orderly and efficient treatment and/or disposal of waste delivered to a building or a place provided, managed or
controlled for those purposes by the Regional Council”

Other powers and authorities are awarded in order to effect the designated function.

Three amendments to the Agreement have been approved by the Minister for Local Government as below:

Amendment No.1 approved on 25 November 1996 which has the effect of: 

(i) Exempting from the definition of waste, material which is retained by a member Local Government for the purposes of
recycling.

(ii) Requiring all member Local Governments to be bound to dispose of waste as required by the Regional Council and to
such sites and places as nominated by the Regional Council.

(iii) Permitting the Regional Council in writing to exempt a member Local Government from the requirement of delivery
under such conditions as the Regional Council deems fit.

(iv) Where a member Local Government fails to meet the requirements of delivery a penalty equivalent to the fees and
charges which may have otherwise been due, shall apply.

Amendment No.2 approved on 25 November 1996 which has the effect of admitting to membership of MRC the Towns of
Cambridge , Victoria Park and Vincent.

It should be noted that from 1 July 1994 the Towns were accorded disposal at member Local Government rates and
charges; the intervening period to 25 November 1996 having been taken up by restructure processes of the City of Perth
and constitutional amendments by the MRC.

The first meeting of the enlarged Council was held at the City of Stirling on 28 November 1996.

Amendment No.3 approved on 20 October 1999 which has the effect of admitting to membership of MRC the City of
Wanneroo to reflect the split of the City of Joondalup into the Cities of Joondalup and Wanneroo.

The first meeting of the further enlarged Council with duly elected Councillors from the newly created local governments
was held on 17 February 2000.  Previous to this, appointed Commissioners represented these Councils effective from 18
December 1997 during this transition period.  

It is intended that pursuant to the Local Government Act 1995 the Constitution will be re-written to be more closely aligned
to the terms of that legislation and consolidated into an Establishment Agreement during 2007/2008

Constitution
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The Mindarie Regional Council currently comprises delegates from each of the member Local Governments on the basis
of the acknowledged equity within the enterprise. The delegates form the Council.

The membership of the Council, with effect 1 July 1999, comprised City of Joondalup, City of Perth, City of Stirling, City of
Wanneroo, Town of Cambridge, Town of Victoria Park and Town of Vincent.

The Chairman of the Council is elected from the Council each year at the first meeting after 30 June.

The Council ordinarily meets bi-monthly, beginning in February each year generally on the third Thursday of the month
commencing at 4.30 pm. The venue of the meeting is rotated between the Chambers of the member Local Governments
and advertised in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1995.

The Council has appointed a Technical Working Group comprising the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) as Chairman and
Senior Technical Officers from each of the member Local Governments. This Group meets on a regular basis to consider
matters referred by the Council and the CEO (MRC) and cause recommendations to be made to the Council.

Also, the administration conducted financial management workshops, on a regular basis, with Member Council Officers.

The Council now also has a Secondary Waste Treatment Facility (SWTF) Working Group, with a Councillor as Chairman,
which is overseeing the introduction of a secondary waste treatment capability to the region.

More recently, the Council has established an Audit Committee, in conformance with Department of Local Government
and Regional Development guidelines. 

Structure
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MRC Councillors (from left) Bruce Stevenson, Terry Loftus, John Stewart, Marlene Anderton, Rob Butler.
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Every moment matters. Almost every waking moment of our daily lives, we are

bombarded by choices.

Our own and our children’s future, our environment, and the lifestyles we currently enjoy,

are all dependent on the choices we make now, and tomorrow. 

While we tend to give it little thought, what we do with our waste is integral to the equation. 

As individuals within a community, our challenge is to be increasingly more aware about

the waste we produce. 

We need to think more about reducing the number of products we consume; how we can

reuse some of those products; and how we can recycle more now than we have previously.

WA’s biggest waste management authority, the Mindarie Regional Council, is making some

progress in the challenges it confronts. 

For example, its Tamala Park landfill site receives about 350,000 tonnes of waste each

year for disposal to landfill, generated by some 500,000 people living in the local

government areas of Wanneroo, Joondalup, Stirling, Cambridge, Perth, Vincent, and

Victoria Park.

Every year we landfill a volume of waste equivalent to the grassed Subiaco Oval to 

22m deep, or 1.5 times the height of the goal posts. As a community, we simply 

can’t keep filling up landfill sites at this rate for much longer. That’s referred to as being

‘environmentally unsustainable’, where something’s got to ‘give’ - and it’s likely to be our

Quality of Life.

The MRC is currently working to establish the first Resource Recovery Facility in the

region, in the Neerabup Industrial Area, through an agreement with BioVision 2020 Pty Ltd. 

Resource Recovery converts ordinary household waste into quality compost. 

It means we send less to landfill, so we waste less waste. That’s like a breath of fresh air for 

the environment, because we put less pressure on it. And, because the compost can be

used to enrich soils, we’re also returning some quality nutrients to Mother Earth -  that’s

good for Her, great for us, and better for 

our kids.

The facility will reduce the volume of 

waste sent annually to landfill by up

to 20%. 

It’s a good start. But, there’s still 

much more to be done, and there’s

precious little time 

to waste.

Every moment

matters.

Mindarie Regional Council  
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Mindarie Regional Council (MRC) has long seen the need for an alternative to land filling household waste at
Tamala Park.

In 2000, MRC adopted a plan to implement resource recovery as an alternative to landfill, after years of discussion and
investigation.

A risk assessment of the resource recovery project determined that MRC should not run the resource recovery facility, but
should purchase the service from a contracting partner. This project would be a manufacturing and marketing undertaking,
for which the MRC had no previous experience. The contractor would build, own and operate the resource recovery facility,
under what is known as a Public Private Partnership, or PPP. MRC would provide the site for the facility with an appropriate
town planning approval and also obtain an environmental approval for the project.  

The contract would need to be over a long enough period to allow the Contractor to recover the capital cost of the facility.
A 20-year contract term was adopted to match the expected life of the facility.  

The tender process to establish the contract needed to be undertaken within the confines of the Local Government tender
regulations. This was the first attempt to establish a major PPP under these regulations. It would prove to offer some major
challenges to the project.

In 2001, MRC appointed the Cardno BSD-Meinhardt Joint Venture to manage the project on its behalf. A project team was
established, which comprised representatives of the MRC, its member Councils, the Joint Venture, and community
engagement, legal and financial consultants. It was seen to be important to keep the member Councils fully informed
throughout the project and to seek comprehensive community input.

The MRC wanted to obtain planning and environmental approvals for the project before calling tenders. This allowed the
results of the approval process, plus views from the public, to help determine the technology solution, the site, and the
preferred tenderer. 

Reflections on the Future
By John King, Project Director, Cardno BSD-Meinhardt Joint Venture

Resource Recovery Facility Update and Background
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MRC Chairman Rod Willox AM and Chief Executive Kevin Poynton sign documents clearing the way for completion of legal
formalities with BioVision 2020 Pty Ltd.
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The MRC needed to have access to detailed technical information about the technologies to be able to obtain these
approvals.  

To get detailed technical information from potential tenderers, it was necessary to put them into a tender situation.
Expressions of interest were therefore called very early in the project and six companies were short-listed.

Following discussions with the Environmental Protection Authority, it was agreed that the MRC would seek an approval for
multiple technology options, potentially located at a number of alternative sites. This was an unusual approach, but gave
the community its best opportunity for meaningful input and access to the most reliable information, prior to key decisions
being made.

A formal Public Environmental Review (PER) of the project was undertaken over an 18-month period.

Concurrent with the PER, the MRC commenced a comprehensive community engagement process. This process is
ongoing and will continue throughout the life of the project.  

The community engagement was overseen by a multi-disciplinary team comprising Roberta Mead, Gae Synnott, John
Bryant and John King. A range of activities was undertaken, including public meetings and information sessions, meetings
with community groups and individuals, community surveys, public notices and news articles.

A Community Engagement Advisory Group was established, comprising representatives from communities near to the
site of the facility and from the broader MRC region. The Group is chaired by an independent Chair, Doug Lambert.

During the environmental approval process, the MRC purchased Lot 505 Pederick Road in  Neerabup, which is located
within the Neerabup Industrial Area.

One particular challenge that needed to be addressed by the Project Team resulted from the resource recovery facility
project bringing to the attention of the local communities the extent of the proposed Neerabup Industrial Area, only a
small portion of which had been previously developed. Many of the public concerns related as much to the development
of the planned industrial area, as they did to the MRC project.
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The site for the Resource Recovery Facility to be built in the Neerabup Industrial Area. Construction work is expected to
begin in February 2008, with operations to commence in mid-2009.

< Back Next >Contents



Key outcomes of the community engagement process were:

4 The site for the facility was changed from Wangara to Neerabup.

4 Only biological waste treatment technologies were acceptable. Tenders for thermal technologies would not be
considered.

4 State Government funding was arranged to allow the local community to engage a consultant to prepare comments
on its behalf in response to the PER.

4 A comprehensive Community Partnership Agreement was developed through the community consultation process
and adopted by the MRC. This was a very innovative initiative that highlighted the seriousness with which the MRC
took the community's concerns. The Agreement now forms part of the contract obligations.

4 The large number of initial community concerns were addressed.

4 The Environmental Protection Authority complemented the MRC for undertaking such a comprehensive and
successful community engagement process.

A comprehensive tender package was developed. The tender process could not incorporate negotiations with tenderers,
due to the constraints of the Local Government tender regulations. Of major concern to the short-listed tenderers were the
details of the contract agreement that defines the responsibilities and risk allocation within the project. To overcome the
tenderers' concerns, a draft resource recovery facility agreement was developed and the minimum requirements for the
agreement were specified. Tenderers were invited to propose changes to the agreement, providing they complied with the
minimum requirements.  

Six tenderers were invited to submit tenders by 15 February 2006. Three tenders were received and all were found to have
requested changes to the agreement that did not comply with the specified minimum requirements. The requirements of
the Local Government tender regulations made it necessary for all tenders to be rejected. This was a surprising outcome
to the project team, but proved to be a legal breakthrough for the project due to the fact that all tenderers failed to comply
with the tender requirements. 

Under the tender regulations, the MRC was now able to negotiate with parties of its choice, to acquire the services
covered by the tender. It had three months to finalise negotiations and enter into a contract. The MRC resolved to
negotiate with the final three tenderers, as it was felt that other parties would not be able to conclude negotiations within
the limited time frame.

A comprehensive tender evaluation was undertaken by a Tender Evaluation Committee (TEC). The TEC was chaired by an
MRC Councillor, Cr Rod Willox, of the City of Stirling and comprised of the following technical officers:

w Peter Hoar, City of Joondalup,
w Eddy Albrecht, City of Stirling,
w Alex Sheridan, Town of Victoria Park,
w Ian Watkins, MRC,
w John King, Cardno BSD/Meinhardt Joint Venture.
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A Digestor in operation. Similar technology will be
employed at the Neerabup plant.
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A probity plan was prepared for the tender process to ensure that it was fair and transparent.  An independent Probity
Auditor, Gary Gliddon, was appointed by the MRC to oversee the tender process.  

Overall responsibility for the resource recovery facility project rests with the MRC’s Chief Executive Officer, Kevin Poynton.

Members of the TEC and MRC Councillors inspected reference facilities nominated by the tenderers as being
representative of the facility they proposed for the MRC. These sites were in England, the Netherlands, Germany, Spain,
Canada and USA. Discussions were held with the facility operators, local governments, approval agencies and local
residents to obtain as clear an understanding as possible of the performance of these facilities.

In June 2006, the MRC selected WorleyParsons as the preferred tenderer for the project. WorleyParsons is a large, publicly-
listed Australian engineering company. It had proposed that the project would be undertaken by a company created
especially for this purpose and called BioVision 2020 Pty Ltd. 

WorleyParsons, Macquarie Bank and Conporec Inc would
own BioVision 2020. Conporec is a Canadian company
that is to provide the composting technology for the
resource recovery facility. WorleyParsons were also to be
the Owners' Engineer and the operator of the facility
(known as the Asset Manager). The facility would be
designed and built on behalf of BioVision 2020 by Perth-
based construction company, Kerman Contracting.

Following additional negotiations, the MRC and BioVision
2020 signed the Resource Recovery Facility Agreement on
11 August 2006. The agreement contained a number of
Conditions Precedent that had to be satisfied prior to the
project proceeding. Funding from the project's financier,
ANZ Bank, was also dependent on these conditions
being satisfied.  

Negotiations to resolve the conditions precedent, and to
address issues raised by the financing parties, were
complex and protracted. This is the first major PPP project
involving a local government. Most such projects are
undertaken by State Governments. It was, therefore, necessary for parties to the project to become familiar with the
requirements of local governments, in particular the governance requirements.

In late April 2007, WorleyParsons advised the MRC that they no longer wanted to be a shareholder in BioVision 2020, or
the Asset Manager. 

The Macquarie Bank subsequently advised the MRC that BioVision 2020 wished to replace WorleyParsons in these roles.
Such a move was allowable under the agreement, providing MRC agreed. SITA Environmental Services were nominated
as the party to replace WorleyParsons. SITA Environmental Services is part of a French-based international environmental
services company that operates resource recovery facilities throughout the world. SITA was nominated by one of the other
short-listed tenderers as the operator of the resource recovery facility for the MRC. 

The TEC had thoroughly assessed SITA and had visited facilities built and/or operated by them in Europe. They have had
an active presence in Perth for a number of years, and had recently become the largest resource recovery facility operator
in Australia.

MRC agreed to BioVision 2020 undertaking negotiations with SITA for them to join the project.

The negotiations between SITA, BioVision 2020, the ANZ Bank and the MRC were again complex and protracted, as they
had been with WorleyParsons. To allow agreement to be reached, a number of variations to the Resource Recovery Facility
Agreement were necessary, including variations to the gate fee payable by the MRC. 

On Friday 23 November 2007, a telephone conference was conducted involving eleven organisations located in four
States. The teleconference confirmed that all of the Conditions Precedents had been satisfied and that financing of the
project could proceed. The task of building the resource recovery facility could now begin, with finalising of the detailed
design.  

Construction is expected to commence in February 2008 and be completed by mid-2009, when the equivalent of 100,000
tonnes of household waste per annum will commence being processed into market-quality compost.

This project has taken longer, and has been more complex, than anyone would have expected. This was primarily due to
the project being the first PPP project undertaken for a local government under the Western Australian local government
tender regulations, and the late withdrawal of one of the principal parties to the project.  

Despite these delays, the parties now involved in the project are confident that the project has been established on a very
solid foundation. The extensive scrutiny of the project has addressed all of the reasonably expected risks, which will help
ensure fewer difficulties during the operational life of the project.

This has been achieved through the dedication of a large number of people, committed to ensuring that the MRC's
resource recovery facility project will be successful and revolutionise the way household waste with Perth's northern
suburbs is managed.
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Resource Recovery Facility Breaks New Ground

Above: Preparing to plant the first of several eucalyptus trees at the Resource Recovery 
Facility site are (from left) MRC Chief Executive Kevin Poynton, SITA Environmental Solutions’
State General Manager Paul Wright, and Project Manager Marco Fontana Giusti.  
Below: Celebrating the start of the project.

Mindarie Regional Council    v  Annual Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2007    v Page 19 

< Back Next >Contents



Work is expected to begin in February 2008 on a new $80 million waste processing plant geared to reduce the
volume of household rubbish sent to landfill in the northern suburbs by up to 20 per cent.

The first stage of a planned three-stage Resource Recovery Facility to be constructed on a 10-hectare site in the Neerabup
Industrial Area will treat up to 100,000 tonnes of household waste annually and convert about 70 per cent of it into market-
quality compost.

WA’s biggest waste management authority, the Mindarie Regional Council, recently completed all the necessary legal
formalities with BioVision 2020 Pty Ltd, clearing the way for construction of the plant.

The MRC manages the disposal of waste generated each year by some 500,000 people living in the local government
areas of Joondalup, Perth, Stirling, Wanneroo, Cambridge, Victoria Park and Vincent.

Until the facility begins operation in mid-2009, about 350,000 tonnes of household waste will continue to be landfilled
each year at the MRC’s Tamala Park waste disposal site in Mindarie. 

“This project is the singularly most significant development in household waste disposal and treatment for the majority of
people living in the Perth metropolitan area,” MRC Chief Executive Mr Kevin Poynton said.

“It offers enormous benefits to the environment, in helping to reduce carbon dioxide emissions while converting waste
products into an organic soil conditioner that can be used to promote growth of a range of natural plants and products.

“We are confident this facility will be of world-class standard, and our community has played a major role through its
extensive input as we have developed the project over the past six years,” Mr Poynton said.

BioVision 2020 will design, build, own and operate the plant for 20 years.

BioVision 2020 has engaged waste management specialists SITA Environmental Solutions to operate the plant, and
Canadian company Conporec to supply the composting technology to be used in the plant. 

BioVision 2020 is owned by WA-based superannuation fund Westscheme and SembSITA Australia Pty Ltd.

The delay in construction of the facility was due to both organisations satisfying a number of complex conditions and
obligations, and finalising the details of subcontractors and their subcontracts.
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Since its formation in March 2003, the Community
Engagement Advisory Group has continued to play an
important communications role between the community
and the Mindarie Regional Council, particularly in relation
to the progress of plans to establish the first Resource
Recovery Facility in the region. CEAG, which comprises
community representatives from across the region and in
localities adjacent to the proposed facility, and has an
independent chairman, played a leading role in the
formulation of the Community Partnership Agreement.
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Community’s views changed project
Community input and feedback played an important role in the decision-making process throughout the project’s
planning phase.

The MRC sought the community’s views through extensive research, surveys, questionnaires and discussions as it
distributed information leaflets throughout the region, published project details on its website, and conducted focus
groups, public information sessions and telephone surveys.

As a direct result of feedback from the community, several milestones were achieved:

4 The location of the proposed facility was changed from Malaga to the Neerabup Industrial Area.

4 Thermal processing technologies for the plant’s operations, such as combustion and incineration, were discarded in
favour of biological processes (with aerobic composting ultimately favoured).

4 In early 2003 a Community Engagement Advisory Group was established, comprising community representatives from
across the region, to provide the MRC with input on the community’s views and values.

4 CEAG then led the way in formulation of a unique document, the Community Partnership Agreement, which identified
20 different objectives and 66 associated outcomes that it believed the MRC had to deliver with the resource recovery
facility in order for the project to receive broad community endorsement. CEAG continues to meet regularly.

In its review of the MRC’s proposal for the facility, the Environmental Protection Authority praised the organisation for its
proactive approach to waste management facilities and its comprehensive community consultation program.

“In progressing this proposal, the MRC has undertaken a comprehensive consultation which has set new standards for
involving the community in the decision-making process. The EPA commends the MRC for the substantial time and effort
put into this consultation.”

MRC is the customer, not the operator
The MRC and its community will be BioVision 2020’s sole customer at the Neerabup plant.

BioVision 2020 will build, own, operate and manage the plant for 20 years under the contract signed with the MRC.

From the outset, as the MRC began considering in 2001 the prospect of establishing its first resource recovery facility in
the region in support of the State Government’s Towards Zero Waste management strategy, the State’s biggest waste
management authority decided that it did not want to undertake responsibility for building, owning and operating the plant.

“Our Councillors believed it would be prudent to appoint a specialist organisation to build, operate and manage the
facility,” MRC Chief Executive Kevin Poynton said.

“The MRC is a specialist in managing the receival and disposal of waste, but we have no expertise in operating plants
used for converting that waste into compost or energy.

“As a Council, we have invested a lot of time and effort in seeking to align ourselves with the best operator and manager
of the specific type of resource recovery facility that our community told us they wanted.

“We’re confident we have secured the best organisation available to satisfy our needs,” Mr Poynton said.
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One of several community engagement sessions conducted during an extensive process to determine the community’s
views and issues with the proposal to establish a Resource Recovery Facility in the region.
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Neerabup facility different to others
The Resource Recovery Facility at Neerabup will differ in many ways from other waste processing plants in Australia.

The MRC’s plant will be built and operated using different project managers, builders, contractors, technology and supplier,
plant operator, and management procedures to those employed elsewhere.

The MRC contract is a Build Own Operate (BOO) project - meaning the construction, technology, operation and
management of the plant - and responsibility for its safe and efficient operation - is in the control of a single contractor, and
part of the contractor’s payment is put at risk for inadequate performance.

The MRC determined from the outset that a BOO contract was most appropriate for its requirements.

The supplier of the Neerabup plant technology, Canadian firm Conporec, has a 16-year track record of proven success in
supplying and operating similar plants in Canada and the US.

The operator of the plant, SITA Environmental Solutions, is a leading waste management firm.

The selection of the contractor for the Neerabup plant followed an exhaustive five-year process by the MRC, and came
after an extensive tour in March last year involving some MRC Councillors and Local Government technical experts visiting
several resource recovery plants operating in Europe, the United Kingdom, Canada and the United States. 

“We discussed many issues, including environmental impacts, odour, noise, and operational efficiency, with representatives
of local government and the communities living adjacent to those plants,” Mr Poynton said.

“The feedback from those investigations was paramount in determining whom we wanted to build and operate the plant
at Neerabup on behalf of residents living in the MRC region,” he said.

The Environmental Protection Authority requires the Neerabup plant’s odour management system to be reviewed by an
independent third party prior to granting approval.

Mindarie Regional Council    v  Annual Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2007    v Page 22 
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Odour Management 
BioVision 2020 Pty Ltd selected Conporec as the composting technology provider for the Resource Recovery Facility, partly
due to their robust odour management system. 

The Conporec composting system is carried out in aerobic conditions to minimise the potential to cause odour problems. 

All of the RRF’s operational buildings are kept under negative pressure, with several changes of air every hour. The
odorous gases are collected as close to the source as possible and transferred to a biofilter for treatment.

A key element of the odour management system is ensuring the biofilter is effective. 

The biofilter will be designed to filter odourous gases collected from the waste reception area, the composter feeding area
and the maturation area. The biofilter will be of sufficient size to ensure that it can effectively handle the maximum air flow
through the system. 

Dust particles are filtered out of the system using wet scrubbers to prevent the biofilter and the collection pipework from
clogging. The wet scrubbers will also humidify the air prior to passing through the biofilter. 

Maintaining the correct moisture content within the biofilter is critical in maintaining peak biofilter efficiency. The biofilter will
be designed and constructed to ensure a minimum retention time of 50 seconds. 

The biofilter media will be a blend of bark, woodchips and other organic matter, which will be covered with an extra layer
of woodchips to prevent winds from drying out the media. A sprinkler system will be installed above the biofilter to
maintain the filtration media moisture between 40% and 60%.  Detailed odour dispersion modelling has been undertaken
for the Neerabup Resource Recovery Facility based on biofilter performances at similar facilities around the world. 

Two odour dispersion models were created, based on ‘conservative’ and ‘expected’ scenarios. The predicted odour levels
at the nearest future residential properties, based on the conservative scenario, will be well below the EPA’s criterion for
acceptable odour impacts from the Neerabup RRF.

Prior to construction of the facility, BioVision must engage an independent expert to undertake a peer review of the
detailed design of the total odour control system, with particular emphasis on the design of the biofilter and the process
control. 

The peer review report must be submitted to the Department of Environment and Conservation with the application for
works approval. 

An independent expert is currently undertaking a peer review of the odour management system.

SITA Environmental Solutions, who will be the operator of the RRF, is a leading international waste management company
with experience in operating RRFs around the world. 

SITA is conscious that the community acceptance of the RRF at Neerabup is highly dependent upon the facility effectively
managing odour emissions. 
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Biofilter at a plant similar to that planned for the 
Resource Recovery Facility in the Neerabup Industrial Area. 
To suit weather conditions in Perth, the Biofilter at the 
Neerabup plant will be protected by an overhead roof.
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SITA considers that proactive monitoring of the composting process, including assessing the performance of the biofilters,
is a critical part of the odour management system, with the aim of preventing odour emissions being released. In addition
to proactive monitoring, regular odour monitoring will be undertaken at locations agreed with the Department of
Environment and Conservation. 

Risk assessment focussed on the “what-ifs?”
If there are any unanswered questions about the MRC’s resource recovery facility project, Chief Executive Kevin Poynton
doesn’t know what they are.

The technology is proven, the facility’s operators and managers enjoy a successful track record in waste management,
environmental regulations and standards are not negotiable, contractual arrangements are close to being finalised and
signed, the MRC’s seven member Councils have provided financial guarantees for the project, community concerns have
been addressed and adopted within the terms of the contract, and a continuing supply of feed stock (100,000 tonnes of
household waste each year) is unlikely to be a problem.

“Hundreds of people, from industry professionals to consultants, technical experts, elected Councillors, Local Government
officers and lawyers have had extensive input into the evolution of this project during the past six years,” Mr Poynton said.

“While we’ve considered and reviewed an enormous range of issues related to credentials, capabilities and capacities,
we’ve never stopped asking the ‘what-ifs?’ – what happens if this doesn’t work, what if that breaks down, what if they can’t
fulfill their promise, and on and on.

“We are confident our evaluation and risk assessment processes have been extremely robust and the prevention and
response systems we have put in place can deal with any issues that may arise.

“Having said that, nothing is perfect, and we may have an unexpected problem or issue to deal with from time to time. “I
can promise our community we will handle and deal with any issue quickly, efficiently, effectively – and openly,” Mr
Poynton said.

Project a credit to Local Government cooperation
The MRC’s plans to establish its first resource recovery facility in the region succeeded only because of a genuine
willingness amongst elected Councillors and technical officers from diverse Local Government Councils to work closely
together, according to MRC Chief Executive Mr Kevin Poynton.

“They can all be proud of their contributions in delivering a waste treatment facility that should return substantial
environmental benefits to the communities they represent,” Mr Poynton said.
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The MRC comprises seven member Councils – from Wanneroo in the north to Joondalup, Stirling, Cambridge, Vincent,
Perth and Victoria Park in the south. “While there have been some changes in the elected representatives on the MRC
Council and in the executives and technical experts from those seven Councils during the past six years, each and all of
them have been unified in their desire to proceed with this project because of the benefits it brings to the environment
and in helping to sustain their communities’ quality of life into the future,” Mr Poynton said.

“Certainly, there has been a huge amount of discussion and debate during the past six years on what was best for the
community, and a great amount of information was requested and delivered. The MRC’s project director, Mr John King, of
the Cardno BSD-Meinhardt Joint Venture, and his team were kept very busy.”

Cost impact on ratepayers
The MRC currently charges its seven member Councils a fee for the management and disposal of waste it receives at its
landfill site at Tamala Park in Mindarie. This fee is normally reflected and shown in the rates notices sent to ratepayers
annually.

The MRC will also pay BioVision 2020 a fee for each tonne of household waste it delivers to the Neerabup resource
recovery facility, and these costs will be passed on to each of the MRC’s seven member Councils. Those Councils are
expected to also pass on all or some of those fees to their ratepayers. 

Each Council will determine the amount of the increase it will charge. While the MRC had no role to play in determining
by how much each of the seven member Councils would increase their fees, MRC Chief Executive Mr Kevin Poynton said
the fees would be likely to be relatively small when consideration was given to the benefits that would accrue to the
environment once the plant was in operation.

“The overall waste management fee increase in the Councils’ annual rates notices may equate to the cost of a couple of
cartons of beer or a visit to the hairdresser’s once a year,” Mr Poynton said.

RRF stops wasting waste
Resource Recovery converts waste into quality compost. 

It means we send less to landfill, so we waste less waste. That’s good for the environment because we put less pressure
on it.

And, because the compost can be used to enrich any soils, we’re also actually returning some quality nutrients to Mother
Earth. That’s good for her, great for us, and better for our kids. 

About 70% of household waste will be saved from landfill through the Resource Recovery process. This reduces the
environmental impact of waste and reduces the waste footprint for future generations. In addition to recycling, Resource
Recovery is important in our efforts to live more sustainably as a community. It’s in line with State and Federal Government
priorities for waste management such as the State Government’s “Towards Zero Waste” policy.

But more importantly, it is in line with what the community told the MRC it wanted done to improve how we deal with
waste.

In an extensive community survey conducted in November 2005, a relatively large group (62% of respondents) said they
were satisfied with how waste was dealt with in WA.  However:

6 49% were dissatisfied with efforts to reduce climate change and global warming.

6 42% were dissatisfied with efforts to get contaminants out of the waste stream.

6 40% were dissatisfied with efforts to turn organic waste into resources such as compost or electricity.

6 37% were dissatisfied with efforts to preserve the environment for future generations.

6 36% were dissatisfied with efforts to reduce the amount of waste going to landfill.

6 36% were dissatisfied with efforts to prevent local groundwater from being polluted.

6 29% were dissatisfied with efforts to recycle.

Resource Recovery helps with all of these because it diverts waste from landfill. How? Diverting waste from landfill:

4 Reduces the production of greenhouses gases, which contribute to global warming; 

4 Reduces pollution risks to local groundwater; and 

4 Contributes to preserving the environment for future generations. 

Resource Recovery creates a valuable use for household waste, converting it into products such as compost or “green”
electricity. 

Household waste becomes a resource, not something to be discarded and buried.

The MRC’s research found that 88% of households would be motivated to separate contaminants (such as paint and
batteries) from their bins if they knew waste was being converted to compost. 

The MRC’s RRF contract with BioVision 2020 is the first step towards a new sustainable waste management future.
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The seven Member Councils of Mindarie Regional Council - the Cities of Joondalup, Wanneroo, Stirling, and Perth
and the Towns of Victoria Park, Vincent, and Cambridge - have worked together to establish the necessary
infrastructure to help reduce the volume of waste sent to landfill, as evidenced through the decision to establish a
Resource Recovery Facility at Neerabup.

These same Member Councils are also working effectively together on waste education initiatives across the region.
Following its endorsement of the Regional Waste Management Plan in November 2006, the MRC has created a Waste
Education Strategy Steering Group (WESSG), which meets every five weeks. 

The group, comprising representatives from all member Councils, discusses ways to work together across the region to
build strong community awareness and participation in better waste management. 

WESSG also comprises two community representatives from the MRC’s long-standing Community Engagement Advisory
Group (CEAG). CEAG was initially established to provide community input for the Resource Recovery Facility, but has since
broadened its focus and is proving a valuable sounding board for a number of waste education initiatives. 

The terms of reference for WESSG state these as specific roles: 

4 To identify and discuss issues relevant to regional waste education; 

4 To clarify the sustainable waste management vision and ensure its relevance for each member Council;

4 To share information about current and planned MRC and member Council waste education activities;

4 To explore opportunities for an integrated approach through messages, programs, communication materials, and other
opportunities; 

4 To search for and assess alternative strategies for achieving sustainable waste behaviour by residents;

4 To achieve consistent and aligned waste education activity at the MRC and member Council levels; and

4 To be a forum where proposals can be brought forward for consideration and discussion.

Our starting point in this group has been to find areas of commonality. Given that collection systems are not uniform
across the seven Councils, we cannot communicate an integrated message about waste collection. What we have been
seeking are those key messages that are consistent across all seven Councils, and initiatives that all Councils can whole-
heartedly endorse.

Waste Education Strategy - 
How a little green frog is helping to unite the region

By Gae Synnott, BA, MBA, PhD, FPRIA
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Council officers and community representatives come together to discuss initiatives as members of the Waste Education
Strategy Steering Group.
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Building the vision
One of WESSG’s first key decisions was to determine the type of behaviour change that is needed within the community.
The new Resource Recovery Facility represents a major step forward in our ability to divert waste from landfill. By the time
the facility opens in mid-2009, we want people to be aware of the facility and its role in sustainable waste management, to
support its introduction, and to celebrate its commissioning. Additionally, by the time the facility opens, we want people to
be adopting the waste behaviour that will enable the facility to work as efficiently as possible and maximise the amount of
waste diverted from landfill.

To help achieve this, we need people to:

4 Remove contaminants

4 Separate recyclables, organics and non-recyclables at home

4 Become involved in composting and worm farms; and

4 Recycle goods wherever possible.

WESSG has agreed on three programs to broaden the level of community awareness and involvement in the lead-up to
the commissioning of the Resource Recovery Facility. The first of these involves a little green frog.

Branding
With the help of a little green frog, the MRC and its member Councils are hoping to capture the community’s attention
about better waste management.

The green frog will appear as part of the MRC and member Councils’ Waste Education Program. Residents will see the
green frog on the MRC website and publications, at member Council waste education events and activities, and
potentially even on the side of Council waste collection trucks and household waste bins.

The green frog is there to remind people to “Reduce Re-use and Recycle”. Frogs are a barometer of environmental health
and they are a reminder to us that every action we take to reduce waste to landfill, to re-use rather than throw away, and to
recycle are all actions that help reduce the environmental impact of waste, and help maintain our community resources for
future generations.

The MRC has also developed a new corporate brandmark and has adopted the corporate positioning statement of
“Mindarie Regional Council – reducing, reusing, recycling”. The rebranding project has been undertaken by LINC
Integrated. 

The process of development has been highly consultative within the MRC and member Councils with the following steps
being taken:

4 Briefing and preparation; 

4 Brainstorming session with WESSG;

4 Workshop with CEAG;

4 First round of discussions with member Councils’ executive teams;
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4 Development of an initial range of options;

4 Review of these options by WESSG;

4 Second round of discussions with Member Councils, including elected member input, and a voting process to
determine preferences;

4 Final recommendation presented to the MRC and endorsed at the October 2007 Council meeting.

LINC Integrated are now compiling a Style Guide to guide the use of the MRC’s brandmark on corporate material, and the
use of the little green frog on waste education material developed by the MRC and member Councils. The more widely
the frog is used, the better the opportunity to remind community members to “Reduce Re-use and Recycle”.

The rebranding initiative is one of the first actions of the Waste Education Strategy Steering Group.  

Earth Carers
Environmental education is one of the principal factors that affect environmental concerns and behaviours. It is one of a
number of tools used for environmental protection, including regulation and enforcement, policy and research, and
economic mechanisms.  

Successfully developed by the NSW Environmental Protection Authority, Earth Carers (known as Earthworks in NSW) is a
proven community-based education program that aims to change people’s behaviour, to minimise waste generation and
disposal. Since its launch in NSW in 1996, the program has been adopted by 70 local government areas in that State,
involving 7000 volunteers, and has successfully expanded into South Australia and the Australian Capital Territory.

Earth Carers has two components. The first is a 25-hour face-to-face course for community volunteers. After completing the
course, volunteers move into the second component, Education Outreach, to spread the knowledge, skills and values of
reducing waste into the community. The major benefits of the program come from the outreach activities undertaken by
volunteers, establishing it as a social change mechanism.

MRC is moving towards a launch of the Earth Carers program in three member Council areas in 2008. 

Household hazardous waste
Some waste materials should never end up in landfill because of the environmental damage they cause. With the advent
of the Resource Recovery Facility, the MRC wants to ensure that these materials are not placed in household waste bins
because of the potential to contaminate the compost that will be produced at the new facility. The MRC and member
Councils are looking at some new collection and disposal services to provide residents with a “safe to landfill” alternative
for the collection and disposal of household hazardous materials.   

The communication program, identified by the little green frog, will focus on what to remove from the waste stream, and
how to dispose of it properly.  

Outcomes to date
Community expectation is often focused on the environmental credentials of the corporate sector. The waste management
industry, including the MRC, can demonstrate sound and visionary waste management, and can provide organisations
with the means and systems to implement effective waste minimisation and management, thereby contributing to positive
environmental scorecards for companies.

However, the effort needs to include communities, where the same attention and expectations should be placed on
individual waste behaviour. In the privacy of their own homes and backyards, where people have total control over their
environment and their decisions, individuals have the opportunity to build a base of thoughtful and sustainable community
actions. Environmental standards and credentials are not just for organisations, but for communities at large.

If communities are to make a difference with the environment and climate change, it starts at home with the little things
that people can do. 

2008 is the “Year of the Frog” and the focus of activities connected with that tag will be on ways that community members
can make positive contributions to conservation in daily life.  Frogs are identified with sensitivity to pollution and habitat
degradation. They need a healthy environment, both on land and in water, to complete their life cycle - from egg, to
tadpole, to adult. Polluted water that may contain chemicals such as fertilisers or detergents can significantly impact on
frog populations. Therefore, unhealthy habitats have reduced frog populations.

The MRC is contributing to a healthier environment through activities such as the development of the Resource Recovery
Facility, which will reduce waste to landfill; its support for Earth Carers, which will give community members the opportunity
to learn waste management methods they can use at home and to help their friends and neighbours; and through the
household hazardous waste program, which will enable people to dispose of hazardous material appropriately. 

With the help of a little green frog, the MRC is hoping that communities will recognise the value of these initiatives and will
join in the effort to reduce waste to landfill and reduce, re-use and recycle for a safer environment.
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Recycling Centre
The Recycling Centre continues to be an extremely popular attraction at Tamala Park. At this facility, the community has an
opportunity to dispose of reusable materials at no charge. These materials are then displayed at the Recycling Centre for
the general public to view and purchase for a small fee.

In addition to the swap facility, the Recycling Centre offers the following services:

4 Cardboard and paper recycling, through a joint venture with AMCOR. Some 350 tonnes of cardboard and paper was
recycled in the 2006/2007 financial year.

4 Hazardous Household Chemicals disposal. Ten tonnes of chemicals and old paints were collected during the year
and sent to Transpacific and Toxfree for appropriate disposal.

4 Used cooking oil is collected and processed on-site into biodiesel. About 2,000 litres of biodiesel were produced in
the year and used to fuel landfill machinery in operation at Tamala Park.

4 A total of 36 tonnes of used motor oil was also collected and disposed of through the Department of Environment and
Conservation’s organised disposal contractors.

The Recycling Centre contributes toward reducing the quantity of waste sent to landfill and provides a popular community
service. In the 2006/2007 financial year, the Recycling Centre diverted about 1,785 tonnes of waste from landfill, furthering
the State Government’s progress “Towards Zero Waste.”

Transfer Station
The Transfer Station enables the community
to dispose of household waste that is not
collected by the MRC’s member councils.
Small commercial loads are also delivered
to the facility. 

While most of the waste delivered to the
facility is sent to landfill , some limited
recycling is undertaken.  

Tamala Park Operations Review
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Recycling Centre

Transfer Station
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Typically, the following materials are extracted from the waste stream for recycling:

4 Metal (heavy and light gauge)

4 White goods (included in Metals)

4 Car batteries (included in Metals)

4 Gas bottles and fire extinguishers (included in Metals)

4 Used vehicle tyres

4 Assorted plastics

4 E-Waste (computers, screens, TVs, video machines etc).

The Transfer Station also accepts asbestos, but this material must be appropriately wrapped and handled.

All waste disposal at the Transfer Station is charged at a respective fee. Currently, 720 vehicles pass through the Transfer
Station on any given weekend. The Mindarie Regional Council is exploring opportunities to expand the capacity of the
Transfer Station to adequately cater for current and anticipated future demand.

LANDFILL ACTIVITIES

Waste Disposal
Waste disposal occurred in the Stage 2 Phase 2 area of the landfill during the year, with some 352,500 tonnes of waste
being disposed. This amount of waste fills a volume of some 440,000 m3, which is equivalent to covering Subiaco Oval in
waste 22m deep, or 1.5 times the height of the goal posts - every year. At current rates of waste disposal, it is anticipated
that the Tamala Park landfill will reach maximum capacity by about 2020.

Waste Shredding Trial
To help reduce the volume of compacted waste, and recycle additional metals, the MRC is reviewing the option of
shredding the bulk waste received from Councils’ verge collections. To date, this has involved visiting other landfills that
have been shredding waste, and undertaking a full-scale shredding trial at Tamala Park to determine the potential volume
savings to the landfill operation.

Green Power Generation
During the 2006/2007 financial year, the landfill gas extraction system was extended to include the temporarily-completed
Stage 2 Phase 2 area of the landfill. The expansion of the extraction network was necessary to maintain the production of
4.65 Megawatts of “green power” on site. The power produced on site is directed into the Synergy (previously Western
Power) grid and sold to commercial customers. The 4.65 MW of power is sufficient to provide continuous power to some
5,000 homes.

All landfill gas activities and the production of green power is undertaken by Landfill Gas & Power Pty Ltd under contract to the
Mindarie Regional Council.
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Ongoing Landfill Cell Development
In order to ensure there is sufficient “air space” in the landfill in which to deposit waste, the MRC has a program for
continuous landfill development. Since mid-2005, Stage 2 Phase 2 has been excavated, lined with a plastic liner and
partially filled with waste. Stage 2 Phase 3 is the final area to be excavated. 

Based on current waste tonnages, Stage 2 Phase 3 needs to be ready to commence receiving waste by January 2010. To
minimise the need to stockpile significant volumes of limestone on site, the MRC has commenced the excavation of
Stage 2 Phase 3 well in advance to enable the excavated material to be slowly trucked off-site, without negatively
impacting on the surrounding traffic flows.

It is anticipated that excavation will continue until mid-2009, with lining of the new landfill in late 2009 in preparation for
receiving waste in early 2010.

Limestone Stockpile
Following previous excavation activities and associated limited options for off-site limestone disposal, a significant
stockpile has been developed on site. This stockpile “peaked” at a height of about 35m above the natural site levels. The
height of the stockpile has caused some concern among some members of the local community. 

In response to community concern, the MRC has undertaken to reduce the height of the stockpile by about 15m. 

Consequently, the MRC has arranged for two companies to crush the limestone from the stockpile and produce limestone
blocks. One company (BGC) crushes the material on site and trucks the crushed material to its block-making facility. The
other company (Stoneridge) produces limestone blocks on site and these are being used in the Burns Beach residential
development. 

The initiative is seen as an ideal solution, as it slowly reduces the height of the limestone stockpile while value-enhancing
the material to produce a useful product that is consumed in the neighbourhood.

To date, the height of the stockpile has been reduced by about 5m. The limestone block manufacture is programmed to
continue for the next 7-to-10 years, to eventually reduce the height of the limestone stockpile to a more acceptable profile.

Site Rehabilitation
The Mindarie Regional Council has an ongoing program for the progressive rehabilitation and revegetation of the Tamala
Park landfill site. Between 2004 and 2006, the Stage 1 landfill area was rehabilitated. There has been immediate and
significant success in establishing native vegetation on the newly-capped landfill area.

Since 2006, attention has turned to revegetating other areas within the site. The limestone stockpile area, and a portion of
the site adjoining the newly-constructed Connolly Drive, were planted during the winters of 2006 and 2007, resulting in
significant improvements to the appearance of the limestone stockpile and the sustainable revegetation of a previously-
barren or weed-infested area alongside Connolly Drive.

Weed control forms a significant portion of the site rehabilitation activities. A continuing effort is made to control and
remove weeds on site, which is essential in helping to re-establish native vegetation throughout the site.
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OPERATING REVENUES

RESERVES

Site Monitoring Reserve
    Opening Balance 138,149

Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (120)
138,029

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The financial statements included in this report reflect that the Mindarie Regional Council has a sound financial position 
and should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and precepts adopted by the Regional Council. The
accounting policies and precepts include the provision of capital from within the operations of the enterprise or loan 
funds where necessary.

Revenues from the weighbridge charges (excluding recyclables) totalled $15,867,298 which reflects an increase of 27% 
over  the previous period. This is in the main due to an increase in member and non-member fees to reflect the actual 
cost of tipping.

Interest on invested funds was $305,821 which represents an increase on the previous period of 97%. The increase in 
amount of interest received was primarily due to the retention of surplus to meet ongoing capital and operational 
requirements.

In accordance with the accounting precepts and approved by the Council at their meeting of 18 August 2005 and 
endorsed at the Council meeting of 5 July 2007, the operational surplus of $3,942,246 will be retained by MRC to meet 
their on going operational and capital requirements in 2007/8.

The only Reserve under the Local government (Financial Management) Regulations 1966 Section 27 (g) as at 30 June 
2007 is as follows:

Page 40
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OPERATING EXPENSES

�  Higher Materials & Contracts Costs $5,430,157

�  Higher Interest costs $1,175,884

�  Higher Amortisation Costs $3,050,453

ITEM 2006/2007 2005/2006 2004/2005 2003/2004 2002/2003

Direct Operational Costs 19.31 18.34 19.49 14.50 13.26
Transfers to Reserves (Provisions) 0.00 2.37 2.42 1.84 0.61
Amortisation of Excavation Works 7.15 3.49 3.42 1.01 1.25
DEP Landfill Levy 4.93 2.90 2.96 2.94 2.96
Interest Loan 3.34 2.34 0.95 0.10 0.00
Depreciation 2.37 2.24 2.07 1.79 1.77
Land Lease Fee 1.48 0.68 0.49 0.47 0.59
Total 38.58 32.38 31.80 22.65 20.44
Plant Operation (included above
Excluding depreciation) 1.66 1.75 1.46 1.17 1.18

$ per Tonne

The comparison to previous years operating expenses is shown in the table below.

Mainly due to the higher cost of excavating the new landfills.

The expenditure generally has gone up in line with the higher level of activities reflected in the increased revenue. The main area of 
increases are:-

The Department of Environment and Protection Levy was increased from $3 per tonne to $6 per tonne effective 1 October 2006.

Mainly due to drawdown of the loans for the excavation of the next stage of the landfill (Stage 2 Phase 2) and purchase of the land for the 
Resource Recovery Facility.

The operational expenditure for 2006-07 of $13,600,909 was an increase of 20% over last year.
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2006/2007

(includes GST)
1. Member Local Governments

 - General Waste 48.35
      - Inert Material Not applicable
      -  Greenwaste (uncontaminated) Not applicable
      -   Bales 19.25

    Minimum charge for entry to site
     -Utilities, Vans, Trailers, Trucks etc 7.00
     -Cars, Station Wagons 7.00
    (b) Swill or Semi Liquid Waste Not accepted
    (c ) In the event of weighbridge unavailability the following fees shall apply to (a) 
above
    Non compacted waste

Trailer 1.8m x 1.2m or less 23.10
Trailer larger than 1.8m x 1.2m per wheel 23.10

    Compacted waste
All vehicles per wheel - truck or trailer 44.50

   (d) Asbestos - whole loads 150.00
3. Special Burials (Supervised)

At the discretion of the Site Controller in addition to the tonnage rates 130.30

4. Special Commercial Items
In lieu of 1 and 2 above the following apply:

 (a) Motor bodies and old machinery each item 25.00
 (b) Animal carcasses
       (i) Small domestic animals 6.00
       (ii) Large animals (Sheep and cattle etc.) 13.00
 (c) Tyres (Maximum disposal 4) 15.00
           Per tonne sliced 250.00
 (d) Safe sharp containers
       (i) 7 litre or less each 13.00
       (ii) Over 7 litres per litre 1.30
 (e) Light weight bulk material less 300 kg per cubic metre 19.50

 (f) Uncontaminated Greenwaste per tonne
  Minimum charge (one tonne equivalent) 53.40

2. (a) General Entry - General Waste

Item

DISPOSAL FEES AND CHARGES

Disposal fees and charges, for 2006/2007, are shown in the table below, as dollars per tonne, unless otherwise 
indicated.

77.00
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Period/Year Ended Tonnes

25 Feb 1991 - 30 June 1991 32,991
1 July 1991 - 28 June 1992 150,487
29 June 1992 - 27 June 1993 156,024
28 June 1993 - 26 June 1994 151,945
27 June 1994 - 30 June 1995 163,818
1 July 1995 - 30 June 1996 179,006
1 July 1996 - 30 June 1997 186,875
1 July 1997 - 30 June 1998 225,620
1 July 1998 - 30 June 1999 249,114
1 July 1999 - 30 June 2000 336,502
1 July 2000 - 30 June 2001 339,285
1 July 2001 - 30 June 2002 331,576
1 July 2002 - 30 June 2003 319,756
1 July 2003 - 30 June 2004 328,655
1 July 2004 - 30 June 2005 333,437
1 July 2005 - 30 June 2006 349,156
1 July 2006 - 30 June 2007 352,544

Total 4,186,791

The amount of waste received for disposal to landfill at Tamala Park, over the 
period since commencement of operations, is tabulated below:

TONNAGES

Page 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMPARISONS

2006/2007 2005/2006
Tonnes Tonnes %

City of Perth 15,909 15,523 386 2.49
City of Wanneroo 65,810 61,216 4,594 7.50
City of Joondalup 71,419 71,432 (13) (0.02)
Town of Cambridge 12,073 11,432 641 5.61
Town of Vincent 13,508 13,148 360 2.74
Town of Victoria Park 13,123 12,905 218 1.69
City of Stirling 80,536 78,944 1,592 2.02
Total Members 272,378 264,600 7,778 2.94
City of South Perth 9,417 6,234 3,183 51.06
Other Casuals 41,984 51,613 (9,629) (18.65)
Total Casuals 51,401 57,847 (6,446) (11.14)

323,779 322,447 1,332 0.41
City of Stirling - Inert Bales 22,952 21,732 1,220 5.61
City of Wanneroo - Inert Bales 5,813 4,977 836 16.80
Grand Total 352,544 349,156 3,388 0.97

Variance

The amount of waste received for disposal to landfill at Tamala Park, by customer, for 2006/2007 in 
comparison to 2005/2006 is tabulated below:
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PLANT

REGISTRATION PURCHASED
Caterpillar 12G Motorised Grader 9LO775 Nov-99 Second Hand
TANA Compactor 40 Tonne 1BNS433 Apr-04 New
TANA Compactor 36 Tonne 1CFM425 May-06 New
Caterpillar 966G Front End Loader 1BBN347 Jan-02 New
Caterpillar 950G Front End Loader 1BBN33/8 Jan-02 New
Water Truck 1AHW218 Aug-98 New
Caterpillar 242 Skid SteerLoader 1CHE149 Jun-06 New
Caterpillar 242 Skid SteerLoader 1BZP635 Jun-05 New
Nissan Navara 1CFN586 Jun-06 New
Nissan 4WD - Fire Fighting Vehicle 1BLL079 Oct-03 Second Hand
Ford Fairmont Ghia 1CBK750 Oct-05 New
Nissan Patrol 1CFN592 May-06 New
Hitachi Articulated Dump Truck Jan-05 New
Hino Bin Truck 1BTN433 Sep-04 New
Toyota Camry Sportivo 1BZN363 Jul-05 New
Nissan Navara DX Dual Cab 1CJC957 Oct-06 New

The status of key items of plant held by Council as at 30 June 2007 is tabulated below:
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Chief Executive Officer

The attached Financial Statements, including supporting notes and information, of Mindarie 
Regional Council for the financial year ended 30 June 2007 are in my opinion properly drawn up 
to present fairly the financial position of the Mindarie Regional Council at 30 June 2007 and the 
results of its operations for the financial year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards and in compliance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1995 and the 
regulations under that Act.

STATEMENT BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Kevin F Poynton

Page 1

?? December 2007

Statement by Chief Executive Officer

Signed on the 20th day of December 2007

Limestone blocks being loaded at Tamala Park.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

Woodside Plaza
Level 14 
240 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
GPO Box A46
Perth WA 6837 Australia

DX 206 
Tel:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Mindarie Regional 
Council

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Mindarie Regional Council, which comprises
the balance sheet as at 30 June 2007, and the income statement, cash flow statement and statement of
changes in equity for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other
explanatory notes and the Chief Executive Officer’s declaration as set out on pages 40 to 63. We have 
not audited the budgeted figures presented in the financial report, as such we provide no opinion on
the budgeted figures. 

The Responsibility of the Councillors for the Financial Report

The Councillors of the entity are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the requirements of Local Government Act 1995 Part 6. This responsibility also 
includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Councillors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian 
professional accounting bodies.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 47
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Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Mindarie Regional Council presents fairly, in all material 
respects, Mindarie Regional Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2007, its financial performance, 
its cash flows and its changes in equity for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretation).

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Leanne Karamfiles 
Partner
Chartered Accountants 
Perth, 20 December 2007 

48
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Note
2006/07
Actual

2006/07
Budget

2005/06

$ $ $
Operating Revenues
Grants & Subsidies 26 5,246 10,000 10,898
Contributions, Reimbursements & Donations 535,868 80,000 65,286
Fees and Charges 25 16,221,330 16,243,946 12,787,579
Interest Earnings 2(a) 305,821 20,000 155,031
Other Revenue 2(a) 468,902 400,000 187,824

Total Operating Income 17,537,167 16,753,946 13,206,618

Operating Expenses
Employee Costs (2,706,000) (3,007,622) (2,374,029)
Materials & Contracts (5,430,157) (5,644,958) (4,988,465)
Utilities (111,030) (35,000) (68,587)
Depreciation 2(a) (835,628) (1,104,577) (781,061)
Interest Expenses 2(a) (1,175,884) (1,230,691) (818,401)
Insurance (107,765) (162,430) (89,324)
Amortisation 2(a) (3,050,453) (3,053,571) (2,046,819)
Other Expenditure (183,992) (231,390) (137,328)
Total Operating Expenses (13,600,909) (14,470,239) (11,304,014)
Sub Total 3,936,258 2,283,707 1,902,604

Transfer to Investing Activities 0 0 (27,080)
Profit on Sale of Assets 5,988 2,749 28,036
Loss on Sale of Assets 0 (14,843) (24,602)

Net Result 3,942,246 2,271,613 1,878,958

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Mindarie Regional Council
INCOME STATEMENT

BY NATURE AND TYPE
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Actual

Income Statement by Nature and Type
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2006/07 2006/07
Budget

2005/06

$

Operating Revenues (Refer Notes 1 ,2)
Governance 0 0 2,736
Community Amenities 17,490,059 16,695,946 13,149,095
Other Property and Services 47,108 58,000 54,787
Total Operating Revenues 17,537,167 16,753,946 13,206,618

Operating Expenses Excluding Borrowing Costs 
Expense (Refer Notes 1,2)
Governance (645,100) (900,140) (1,489,103)
Housing (6,069) 0 (8,793)
Community Amenities (10,826,989) (12,339,408) (8,512,721)
Other Property and Services (946,867) 0 (502,075)

(12,425,025) (13,239,548) (10,512,692)

Borrowing Costs Expense (Refer Notes 2 and 24)
Governance 0 0 (30,849)
Community Amenities (1,175,884) (1,230,691) (787,552)

(1,175,884) (1,230,691) (818,401)

Profit and Loss on Sale of Assets
Community Amenities 5,988 (12,094) 3,433

5,988 (12,094) 3,433

Net Result 3,942,246 2,271,613 1,878,958

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

INCOME STATEMENT
Mindarie Regional Council

By Program
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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ActualActual
$ $

Income Statement by Program
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2006/07 2005/06
Note Actual Actual

Current Asset $ $
Cash and Other Equivalents 3 8,786,308 2,697,908
Trade and Other Receivables 4 3,942,344 2,500,085
Inventories 5 10,873 17,252
Other current assets 6 267,411 62,182
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 13,006,936 5,277,427

Non-Current Assets
Property Plant & Equipment 7 5,825,948 7,497,536
Infrastructure 8 500,869 440,280
Excavation Work 9 18,995,140 11,803,570
Resource Recovery Facility 10 4,254,267 2,251,376
Rehabilitation Asset 11 2,378,719 0
TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 31,954,943 21,992,762

TOTAL ASSETS 44,961,879 27,270,189

Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 12 1,752,040 2,026,593
Provisions 14 269,226 289,805
Borrowings, Leases, Overdrafts 13 3,373,623 1,609,474

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,394,889 3,925,872

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 14 92,201 2,189,690

Rehabilitation Provision 14 3,428,891 0
Borrowings 13 20,856,157 11,566,812

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 24,377,249 13,756,502

TOTAL LIABILITIES 29,772,138 17,682,374

NET ASSETS 15,189,741 9,587,815

Equity
Retained Surplus 13,235,409 7,803,940
Reserves 15 138,029 138,149
Capital Contribution by Constituent Councils 17 1,816,303 1,645,726

Total Equity 15,189,741 9,587,815

l
BALANCE SHEET

for the year ended 30 June 2007

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2006/07 2005/06
Note Actual Actual

RETAINED SURPLUS        $ $
Balance as at 1 July 7,803,940 5,910,104
Changes resulting from the adoption of IFRS. 1,489,223 14,878
Restated Balance 9,293,163 5,924,982
Change in Net Assets Resulting from Operations 3,942,246 1,878,958
Balance as at 30 June 13,235,409 7,803,940

RESERVES - CASHED / INVESTMENTS BACKED
Balance as at 1 July 138,149 138,269
Transfer (to)/from Reserves (120) (120)
Balance as at 30 June 15 138,029 138,149

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION BY CONSTITUENT COUNCILS

Balance as at 1 July 1,645,726 1,645,726
Capital Contribution from Constituent Councils 170,577 0
Balance as at 30 June 1,816,303 1,645,726

TOTAL EQUITY 15,189,741 9,587,815

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Limestone crushing at Tamala Park
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Note
2006/07
Actual

2006/07
Budget

2005/06
Actual

$ $ $
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts
Grants & Subsidies 5,246 10,000 10,898
Contributions, Reimbursements & Donations 171,415 80,000 65,286
Fees and Charges 15,960,059 16,243,946 14,071,264
Interest Earnings 349,843 20,000 107,383
Goods and Services Tax 1,134,081 895,662
Other Revenue 468,781 400,000 187,704

18,089,425 16,753,946 15,338,197

Payments
Employee Costs (2,634,176) (2,931,880) (2,352,180)
Materials & Contracts (6,169,133) (5,662,958) (5,492,301)
Utilities (7,137) (35,000) (7,193)
Interest Expenses (1,415,669) (1,230,691) (738,830)
Insurance (107,765) (162,430) (89,138)
Goods and Services Tax (1,449,111) (1,268,671)
Other Expenditure (236,693) (220,890) (120,166)

(12,019,684) (10,243,849) (10,068,479)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 18(b) 6,069,741 6,510,097 5,269,718

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (146,678) (1,437,500) (4,619,549)
Payments for Construction of Infrastructure (142,799) (199,000) (164,351)
Payments for Excavation Works and Resource Recovery Facility Costs (11,816,194) (11,025,000) (6,503,833)
Proceeds from Sale of Plant and Equipment 22 1,070,836 201,000 292,664

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (11,034,835) (12,460,500) (10,995,069)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Repayment of Loans 24 (2,026,144) (1,609,474) (1,494,217)
Proceeds from New Loans 24 13,079,638 11,025,000 7,590,764

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities 11,053,494 9,415,526 6,096,547

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents Held 6,088,400 3,465,123 371,196
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,697,908 2,697,908 2,326,712

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 8,786,308 6,163,031 2,697,908

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 1

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting 
financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that 
the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported. 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and 
presentation of this financial report: 

(a) Basis of Preparation 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements, the Local Government Act 1995 and accompanying regulations.  
The report has also been prepared on an accrual basis under the convention of historical 
cost accounting. 
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and except where 
stated, does not take into account changing money values or current valuations of non-
current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for 
assets.
Compliance with IFRSs 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) form the basis of Australian Accounting 
Standards adopted by the AASB, being AIFRSs. The financial report of the Mindarie Regional 
Council complies with IFRSs and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board except as follows:
- AIFRSs include specific provisions relating to not-for-profit entities. These are not 
  included in IFRSs.  
- Australian Accounting Standard AAS 27 Financial Reporting by Local Governments also 
  applies and there is no equivalent standard in IFRSs. 
The principle areas of non compliance with IFRS include: 
- the recognition of non-reciprocal revenue; and
- the definition of value in use for the purposes of estimating the recoverable amount of 
  impaired assets. 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but 
are not yet effective have not been adopted by the Council for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2007. 
Council is of the view the new standards or amendments will have no direct impact on the 
amounts included in the financial report although the changes may impact upon the way in 
which some financial information is disclosed. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards 
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that effect 
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances; the results of which 
form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

(b) The Local Government Reporting Entity 
All funds through which the Council controls resources to carry on its functions have been 
included in the financial statements forming part of this financial report.
The financial statements are prepared on the basis of a single consolidated fund (Municipal 
Fund). 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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(c) Goods and Services Tax 
Revenues, expenses and assets capitalised are recognised net of any goods and services 
tax (GST) recoverable. Receivables and payables in the Balance Sheet are stated inclusive 
of GST. 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and Cash Equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand 
and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(e) Receivables 
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance 
for doubtful debts. 
Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known 
to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An allowance for doubtful debts is raised 
when there is objective evidence that they will not be collectible. 

(f) Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

(g) Acquisition of Assets 
Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration 
determined as at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. 
In the event that settlement of all or part of the cash consideration given in the acquisition of 
an asset is deferred, the fair value of the purchase consideration is determined by discounting 
the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition. 

(h) Plant and Equipment 
Property, Plant and Equipment and infrastructure assets are brought to account at cost less, 
where applicable, any accumulated depreciation, amortisation or impairment losses. 
Fixed Assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any fixed 
asset exceeds recoverable amount.  In determining the recoverable amount of fixed assets, 
the expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present value. 

(i) Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding 
freehold land.  All non-current assets having a limited useful life are separately and 
systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption 
of the future economic benefits embodied in those assets. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis, using rates which are reviewed 
each reporting period. The following estimated useful live are used in the calculation of 
depreciation:  
Buildings        20 years
Plant and Vehicles       6 2/3 years
Furniture and Equipment       5 years 
Roads, Landscaping, Fences, Walls and Security Lighting  20 years  

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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(j) Leased Assets  
Leased assets classified as finance leases are recognised as assets. The amount initially 
brought to account is the present value of minimum lease payments. 
A finance lease is one which effectively transfers from the lessor to the lessee substantially 
all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased property. 
Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
asset. 
Finance lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of lease 
liability over the term of the lease. The interest expense is determined by applying the 
interest rate implicit in the lease to the outstanding lease liability at the beginning of each 
lease payment period. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a basis which reflects the 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

(k) Investments and Other Financial Assets 
All investments are cash and cash equivalents that are valued at cost and interest on those 
investments is recognised when it accrues. The Council has no non-cash investments. 

(l) Impairment 
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 136 “Impairment of Assets” 
the Mindarie Regional Council’s assets, other than inventories, are assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication they may be impaired. 
No assets are considered impaired as at the reporting date. 

(m) Accounts Payable 
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the council becomes 
obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(n) Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be 
required and they are capable of being measured reliably. Under the Mindarie Regional 
Council Enterprise Agreement of 2002 employees are paid on termination an amount for 
unused sick leave based on a graduated entitlement defined in the agreement.
 
(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave, sick leave and other employee benefits (short term benefits) 
Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, and other 
employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

(ii) Annual leave and Long service leave (Long term benefits) 
Provisions made in respect of annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled 
more than 12 months from the reporting date are measured as the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Council in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date. 

(o) Interest bearing Loans and Borrowings 
All loans and borrowings are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less 
directly attributable transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured 
using their applicable repayment schedules. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities 
are recognised in the income statement. 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities with repayments due in the 12 months 
after balance date recognised as current liabilities.
 
Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing Costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.
 
(p) Superannuation 
In line with Superannuation Guarantee Statutory requirements the Council contributes a 
mandatory 9% contribution of the normal salary of employees, for qualifying employees, 
to the employees nominated superannuation fund. In addition to this, Council matches 
contributions made by employees to these nominated superannuation funds, up to 7%. 

(q) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of 
economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is probable that recovery 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
 
Distributions to Members 
A provision is recognised for distributions to members when they have been determined by the Council. 

(r) Restoration, Rehabilitation and Monitoring Costs 
The Council complies with the full provision method of accounting for restoration, rehabilitation 
and site monitoring costs. Charges are made to expenses based on the estimated costs of 
restoring, rehabilitating and monitoring the Tamala Park site. The rate charged is reviewed 
annually and is based upon a standard engineering cost per cubic metre of landfill, and the 
latest resources calculation. Engineering rates differ according to the nature of the obligation 
to provide the service. 

(s) Future Capping Expenditure 
The liability for estimated future capping expenditure is provided under Rehabilitation 
Provision on a phase by phase basis and discounted to the present value with the unwinding 
of the discount being charged to the Operating Statement under finance costs within the 
amortisation charge. The discounted present value of the future capping expenditure is 
also capitalised as part of the Rehabilitation Asset and is amortised on a straight line basis. 
Changes in estimates are recognised prospectively with corresponding adjustments to the 
provision and associated costs. 

(t) Revenue Recognition 

Waste Service Charge 
Revenue from waste services is recognised on receipt of waste. 

Disposal of Assets 
Revenue from the disposal of assets is recognised when the Council has passed control of 
the goods or other assets to the buyer. 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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Rendering of Services 
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract.
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis. 

Contributions of Assets 
Grants, donations and other contributions are recognised as revenues when the Council obtains 
control over the assets comprising the contributions. 
Where conditional contributions are received in advance and therefore recognised as revenues 
in that accounting period and the conditions on which those funds are to be expended are 
undischarged at the reporting date, the nature of the amounts pertaining to those undischarged 
conditions are disclosed in notes to the financial statements. 
Contributions received in advance and subject to undischarged conditions are classified as “Restricted 
Assets” and reported separately in the notes accompanying the financial statements. These notes also 
disclose the amount of the contributions recognised as revenues in a previous reporting period that 
were obtained in respect of the Council’s operations for the current reporting period 

(u) Interest Rate Risk 
Information on interest rate risk as it applies to financial instruments is disclosed in Note 30 

(v) Credit Risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, 
at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions 
for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to and forming part of the 
financial report. The Council does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single 
debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the Council. 
The one major concentration of credit risk within the council is in relation to its cash and 
cash equivalent deposits which are with two financial institutions. 

(w) Liquidity Risk 
The Council’s liquidity risk is managed via the use of its cash and cash equivalent balances, 
other financial assets and borrowing policy. 

(x) Fair Value 
All assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet, whether they are carried at cost or 
at fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair 
values unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
The aggregate fair value and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to and forming part of the financial report. 

(y) Comparitive and Rounding Off Figures 
Where required, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.  All figures shown in this annual financial report, 
other than a rate in the dollar, are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

(z) Approval of Annual Report and Financial Statements 
The Council approved the 2006-07 Annual Report and Financial Statements at their meeting 
of 13 December 2007. 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
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2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

2 REVENUES AND EXPENSES

2(a) Results from Operating Activities

The result from operating activities includes:

(i) Charging as Expenses:

Amortisation
Excavation Works 2,521,230 1,219,090
Site Rehabilitation Provision 0 727,729
Site Monitoring Provision 0 100,000
Finance Charge - decommissioning provision 146,172 0
Decommissioning Asset 383,051 0

3,050,453 2,046,819

Auditors Remuneration
Financial Audit 25,500 22,001

Operational Audits 22,679 20,847

Depreciation

Land and Buildings 228,385 155,574
Plant and Machinery 441,841 473,846
Furniture and Equipment 83,192 117,343
Infrastructure 82,210 34,298

835,628 781,061

Interest Expenses
Loans (refer note 24) 1,175,884 818,401

(ii) Crediting as Revenues:
2006/07
Actual

2006/07
Budget

2005/06
Actual

$ $ $

Interest Earnings
Investments
- Other Funds 305,821 20,000 155,031

305,821 20,000 155,031

Other Revenue
- Gas Sales 463,418 400,000 181,089
- Other 5,484 0 6,735

468,902 400,000 187,824

Page 1
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 2.   REVENUES AND EXPENSES

(b) Statement of Objective

MISSION STATEMENT

GOVERNANCE
Objective: To provide a decision making process for the efficient allocation of scarce resources.
Activities:

COMMUNITY AMENITIES
Objective: Provide services required by the Community.
Activities: Operation of Waste Facility.

OTHER PROPERTY AND SERVICES
Objective: Provide repair and maintenance services to Council's plant and equipment.
Activities: Plant repairs.

Administration and operation of facilities and services to Member Councils; Other costs that relate
 

to the tasks of assisting elected members and customers on matters which do not concern specific
 

Council services.

In order to discharge its responsibilities to the community, the Council has developed a set of operational and 
financial objectives. These objectives have been established both on an overall basis, reflected by the Council’s
Mission Statement, and for each of its broad activities (programs).

To provide effective , cost efficient and environmentally sound waste and other resource management services for 
the benefit of the region.

The Council is dedicated to providing high quality services to the community through its operations which 
encompass the following service orientated activities:

Page 1

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Unrestricted 8,648,279 2,559,759
Restricted 138,029 138,149

8,786,308 2,697,908

The following restrictions have been imposed by regulations 
or other externally imposed requirements:

Site Monitoring Reserve 138,029 138,149

4 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current
Trade Debtors 3,053,099 2,256,798
Goods and Services Tax Receivable 889,245 243,287

3,942,344 2,500,085

5 INVENTORIES

Current

Fuel and Materials 10,873 17,252

6 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid Expenses 261,873 12,623
Accrued Income 5,538 49,559

267,411 62,182

Page 1
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2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and Buildings - Cost 5,121,632 6,178,709
Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,251,524) (1,023,139)

3,870,108 5,155,570

Furniture and Equipment - Cost 1,030,163 925,743
Less Accumulated Depreciation (805,337) (722,145)

224,826 203,598

Plant and Equipment - Cost 3,321,275 3,301,608
Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,590,261) (1,163,240)

1,731,014 2,138,368

5,825,948 7,497,536

Movements in Carrying Amounts

Land & 
Buildings

Furniture & 
Equipment

Plant & 
Equipment Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,155,570 203,598 2,138,368 7,497,536
Additions 2,923 104,420 39,335 146,678
Disposals - Cost (1,060,000) 0 (19,668) (1,079,668)

- Depreciation 0 0 14,820 14,820
Depreciation expense (228,385) (83,192) (441,841) (753,418)

Carrying amount at the end of year 3,870,108 224,826 1,731,014 5,825,948

This was in accordance with the exemptions on application of Accounting Standard AASB1 "First-time 
Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards." These assets, along with 
all other property, plant and equipment asset classes, are now being carried at cost and whilst not subject to 
a policy of regular revaluation, they are subject to an annual assessment as to whether there is any 
indication an asset may have been impaired in accordance with AASB136 "Impairment of Assets".

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year.

Effective from 1 July 2004, Council deemed the carrying amount of land and buildings to be their cost.

Page 1
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2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

8 INFRASTRUCTURE

Infrastructure 1,242,357 1,099,558
Less Accumulated Depreciation (741,488) (659,278)

500,869 440,280

Movements in Carrying Amounts

2006/07
Actual

$

Landscaping
Other
Infrastructure Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 219,179 221,101 440,280
Additions 10,550 132,249 142,799
Depreciation expenses (47,605) (34,605) (82,210)

Carrying amount at the end of year 182,124 318,745 500,869

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

9 EXCAVATION

Excavation Works 23,831,511 14,018,208
Less Amortisation (4,836,371) (2,214,638)

18,995,140 11,803,570

Movements in Carrying Amounts

2006/07
Actual

$

Excavation
Stage 2

Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 11,803,570 11,803,570
Additions 9,813,303 9,813,303
Amortisation (2,621,733) (2,621,733)

Carrying amount at the end of year 18,995,140 18,995,140

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of Excavation between the beginning and the end of the current financial 
year.

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of Infrastructure between the beginning and the end of the current financial 
year.

Effective from 1 July 2004, Council deemed the carrying amount of all infrastructure assets to be their cost. This was in 
accordance with the exemptions on application of Accounting Standard AASB 1 "First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards". These assets are now carried at cost and whilst not subject to a policy of 
regular revaluation, are subject to an annual assessment as to whether there is any indication an asset may have been 
impaired in accordance with AASB 136 "Impairment of Assets."
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$ $

10 RESOURCE RECOVERY FACILITY

Resource Recovery Facility 4,281,347 2,278,456
Less interest from investment (27,080) (27,080)

4,254,267 2,251,376

Movements in Carrying Amounts

2006/07
Actual

$

Resource
Recovery

Facility

Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,251,376 2,251,376
Additions 2,002,891 2,002,891

Carrying amount at the end of year 4,254,267 4,254,267

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

11 REHABILITATION ASSET

Decommissioning Asset for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 1 2,298,303 0
Decommissioning Asset for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 2 (East) 846,518 0
Less Amortisation (766,102) 0

2,378,719 0

Movements in Carrying Amounts

2006/07
$

Stage 2  
Phase 1

Stage 2  
Phase2 (East) Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 0 0 0
Additions 2,298,303 846,518 3,144,821
Amortisation 0(766,102) (766,102)

Carrying amount at the end of year 2,298,303 80,416 2,378,719

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current

Sundry Creditors 6,114 163,127
Accrued Expenses 963,887 1,509,280
Accrued Salaries and Wages 57,663 26,993
PAYG 92,310 39,356
Goods and Services tax Payable 632,066 287,837

1,752,040 2,026,593

13 BORROWINGS

Current

Loan Principal 3,373,623 1,609,474

Non-Current

Loan Principal 20,856,157 11,566,812

24,229,780 13,176,286

Additional detail on borrowings is provided in Note 24

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of Rehabilitation Assets between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year.

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of Resource Recovery Facility between the beginning and the end of the 
current financial year.

The Resource Recovery Facility has not been commissioned at the date of these accounts.

Page 2

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $
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$ $

10 RESOURCE RECOVERY FACILITY

Resource Recovery Facility 4,281,347 2,278,456
Less interest from investment (27,080) (27,080)

4,254,267 2,251,376

Movements in Carrying Amounts

2006/07
Actual

$

Resource
Recovery

Facility

Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,251,376 2,251,376
Additions 2,002,891 2,002,891

Carrying amount at the end of year 4,254,267 4,254,267

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

11 REHABILITATION ASSET

Decommissioning Asset for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 1 2,298,303 0
Decommissioning Asset for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 2 (East) 846,518 0
Less Amortisation (766,102) 0

2,378,719 0

Movements in Carrying Amounts

2006/07
$

Stage 2  
Phase 1

Stage 2  
Phase2 (East) Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 0 0 0
Additions 2,298,303 846,518 3,144,821
Amortisation 0(766,102) (766,102)

Carrying amount at the end of year 2,298,303 80,416 2,378,719

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current

Sundry Creditors 6,114 163,127
Accrued Expenses 963,887 1,509,280
Accrued Salaries and Wages 57,663 26,993
PAYG 92,310 39,356
Goods and Services tax Payable 632,066 287,837

1,752,040 2,026,593

13 BORROWINGS

Current

Loan Principal 3,373,623 1,609,474

Non-Current

Loan Principal 20,856,157 11,566,812

24,229,780 13,176,286

Additional detail on borrowings is provided in Note 24

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of Rehabilitation Assets between the beginning and the end of the current 
financial year.

Movement in the carrying amounts of each class of Resource Recovery Facility between the beginning and the end of the 
current financial year.

The Resource Recovery Facility has not been commissioned at the date of these accounts.
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2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

14 PROVISION

Current

Provision for Annual Leave and Sick Leave 148,947 141,600
Provision for Long Service Leave 120,279 148,205

269,226 289,805

Non Current

Provision for Annual Leave 37,926 48,068
Provision for Long Service Leave 54,275 30,947
Provision for Site Monitoring 0 681,916
Provision for Site Rehabilitation 0 3,445,890
Less Site Rehabilitation  - Site Costs 0 (2,017,131)

92,201 2,189,690
361,427 2,479,495

Rehabilitation Provision
Decommissioning Provision for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 1 2,582,373 0
Decommissioning Provision for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 2 East 846,518 0

3,428,891 0

15 RESERVES - CASH / INVESTMENT BACKED
2006/07
Actual

2006/07
Budget

2005/06
Actual

Site Rehabilitation Reserve $ $ $

Opening Balance 138,149 138,149 138,269
Transfer from Reserve (120) (120) (120)

TOTAL CASH BACKED RESERVE 138,029 138,029 138,149

16 RESERVES - ASSET REVALUATION

Council recognises all assets at cost and no revaluation is undertaken.

17 CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION BY CONSTITUENT COUNCILS
2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

City of Joondalup 302,717 274,288
City of Wanneroo 302,717 274,288
City of Stirling 605,435 548,576
City of Perth 261,166 246,951
Town of Vincent 114,756 100,541
Town of Cambridge 114,756 100,541
Town of Victoria Park 114,756 100,541

1,816,303 1,645,726

In accordance with council resolutions in relation to each reserve account, the purpose for which the funds are set aside are 
as follows :

Site Rehabilitation Reserve - to be used to fund the rehabilitation following the utilisation of the landfill and is expected to be 
utilised in the future years.

All of the reserve accounts are supported by money held in financial institutions and match the amount shown as restricted 
cash in Note 3 to the financial report.
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2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

14 PROVISION

Current

Provision for Annual Leave and Sick Leave 148,947 141,600
Provision for Long Service Leave 120,279 148,205

269,226 289,805

Non Current

Provision for Annual Leave 37,926 48,068
Provision for Long Service Leave 54,275 30,947
Provision for Site Monitoring 0 681,916
Provision for Site Rehabilitation 0 3,445,890
Less Site Rehabilitation  - Site Costs 0 (2,017,131)

92,201 2,189,690
361,427 2,479,495

Rehabilitation Provision
Decommissioning Provision for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 1 2,582,373 0
Decommissioning Provision for Rehabilitation Stage 2 Phase 2 East 846,518 0

3,428,891 0

15 RESERVES - CASH / INVESTMENT BACKED
2006/07
Actual

2006/07
Budget

2005/06
Actual

Site Rehabilitation Reserve $ $ $

Opening Balance 138,149 138,149 138,269
Transfer from Reserve (120) (120) (120)

TOTAL CASH BACKED RESERVE 138,029 138,029 138,149

16 RESERVES - ASSET REVALUATION

Council recognises all assets at cost and no revaluation is undertaken.

17 CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION BY CONSTITUENT COUNCILS
2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

City of Joondalup 302,717 274,288
City of Wanneroo 302,717 274,288
City of Stirling 605,435 548,576
City of Perth 261,166 246,951
Town of Vincent 114,756 100,541
Town of Cambridge 114,756 100,541
Town of Victoria Park 114,756 100,541

1,816,303 1,645,726

In accordance with council resolutions in relation to each reserve account, the purpose for which the funds are set aside are 
as follows :

Site Rehabilitation Reserve - to be used to fund the rehabilitation following the utilisation of the landfill and is expected to be 
utilised in the future years.

All of the reserve accounts are supported by money held in financial institutions and match the amount shown as restricted 
cash in Note 3 to the financial report.
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18 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

18(a) Reconciliation of Cash

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash 
includes cash and cash equivalents, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.  Cash at the end of the reporting period is 
reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as 
follows:

2006/07
Actual

2006/07
Budget

2005/06
Actual

$ $ $
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,786,308 1,843,784 2,697,908

18(b)
Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided By Operating 
Activities to Net Result

Change in Net Assets Resulting from Operations 3,942,246 2,271,613 1,878,958

Depreciation 835,628 1,104,577 781,061
Excavation Amortised 2,521,230 2,063,374 1,219,090
Amortisation & finance charges for capping provisions 529,223 0 0
(Profit) / Loss on Sale of Asset (5,988) 12,094 (3,434)
Interest transferred to Resource Recovery Facility project 0 0 27,080
(Increase) / Decrease in Receivables (1,442,259) 0 823,187
(Increase) / Decrease in Inventories 6,379 0 (3,006)
(Increase) / Decrease in Prepayments and Accrued Income (205,229) 0 (51,831)
Increase / (Decrease) in Payables (274,553) 0 624,000
Increase / (Decrease) in Employee Provisions (7,393) 0 (4,738)
Increase / (Decrease) in Other Provisions 0 1,058,439 819,821
Increase / (Decrease) in Deferred Creditors 170,577 0 (855,228)
Increase / (Decrease) in Retained Surplus for the adoption of IFRS. 0 0 14,878
Transfer to/(from) Reserves (120) 0 (120)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 6,069,741 6,510,097 5,269,718

18( c)
Undrawn Borrowing Facilities Credit Stand-by 
Arrangements
Bank Overdraft limit 1,000,000 1,000,000
Bank Overdraft at Balance Date 0 0
Credit Card Limit 125,000 125,000
Credit Card at Balance Date (412) (1,081)
Total Amount of Credit Unused 1,124,588 1,123,919

Loan Facilities
Loan Facilities - Current 3,373,623 1,609,474
Loan Facilities - Non Current 20,856,157 11,566,812
Loan Facilities in use at Balance Date 24,229,780 13,176,286

Unused Loan Facilities at Balance Date 0 8,409,236
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19 CONTINGENT  LIABILITIES

20 CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS
2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

(a) Operating Lease Commitments $ $

The operating lease relates to the lease of the land at 
Tamala Park but is not capitalised in the accounts:

Payable:

- not later than one year 532,747 510,294
- later than one year but not later than five years 2,130,988 2,041,176
- later than five years 10,654,938 10,716,174

13,318,673 13,267,644

A claim has been made against Mindarie Regional Council by the contractor for the lining work in 
relation to the landfill under Stage 2 Phase 2, West. The management and the Council members are 
of the view that the Council has reasonable prospects of defending the Claim.

Page 1

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007

< Back Next >Contents



Mindarie Regional Council    ❖    Annual Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2007    ❖    Page 58  

2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

21 TOTAL ASSETS CLASSIFIED BY FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY
Community Amenities 36,164,698 24,555,029
Not Classified 8,797,181 2,715,160

44,961,879 27,270,189

22 DISPOSALS OF ASSETS

Actual 2006/07
Net Book 

Value Sale Price Profit (Loss)
Actual Actual Actual

$ $ $
Land
Community Amenities

Neerabup Site (Bush forever) 1,060,000 (1,060,000) 0

Plant and Equipment
Community Amenities

Plant 11 - Toyota Hilux 4,848 (10,836) 5,988

1,064,848 (1,070,836) 5,988

Budget 2006/07
Net Book 

Value Sale Price Profit (Loss)
Budget Budget Budget

$ $ $
Plant and Equipment

Community Amenities
Caterpillar 966 114,843 (100,000) (14,843)
Caterpillar 950 87,251 (90,000) 2,749
Toyota Hilux 11,000 (11,000) 0

213,094 (201,000) (12,094)

The following assets were disposed of during the year
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2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

23 FINANCIAL RATIOS

User Revenue to Total Tonnes 45.01 35.87 33.69

Current Ratio 2.3854 1.3091 1.2778

Unrestricted Cash to Trade Creditors Ratio 1414.56 15.69 1.07
Debt Ratio 0.66 0.65 0.58
Debt Service Ratio 1.45 1.06 0.63
Operating Costs per Tonne 38.58 32.38 31.79
Plant Operating Costs per Tonne 1.79 1.83 1.49
Gross Debt to Revenue Ratio 1.38 1.00 0.60

Gross Debt to Economically Realisable Assets Ratio 1.29 1.03 0.76

The above ratios are calculated as follows:

  - Expressed as an average dollar per tonne

Unrestricted Cash to Trade Creditors Ratio:

Current Ratio: Current assets minus restricted current assets

Current liabilities minus liabilities associated with restricted assets

Gross Debt to Economically Realisable Assets Ratio:

Debt service cost (Principal & Interest)

Debt Ratio:

Total Tonnes

Economically realisable assets

User Revenue to Total Tonnes:
User Revenue
Total Tonnes

Available operating revenue

Debt Service Ratio:

Gross Debt
Total Revenue

Gross debt to Revenue Ratio:

Gross Debt

Operating Costs per Tonne: Operating Expenses (including Depreciation)

Plant Operating Costs per Tonne

Total liabilities

Unrestricted cash
Trade creditors

Plant Operating Costs (excluding Depreciation)

Total Tonnes

Total assets
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24 INFORMATION ON BORROWINGS

(a)  Loan Repayments

Budget
Principal

Repayments
Projected
Balance

Interest
Repayments

Principal
01/07/2006 Drawdowns

2006/07  
Budget At 30/6/07

2006/07 
Budget

$ $ $ $ $
Community Amenities
Tamala Park Landfill
Loan 7 - Tamala Park Stage 2 Phase 1 Construction (part fun 1,856,551 0 899,998 956,553 93,995
Loan 8 - Building Upgrade 550,969 0 54,475 496,494 34,240
Loan 9 - Stage 2 Phase 1 Construction (part funding) 1,302,519 0 498,937 803,582 68,245
Loan 12 - Construction Stage 2 Phase 2 3,958,341 10,120,000 0 14,078,341 640,000
Regional Resource Recovery Facility
Loan 11 - Resource Recovery Facility Land Purchase 3,428,811 0 99,388 3,329,423 202,557
Loan 10 - Resource Recovery Facility Infrastructure 1,933,555 905,000 56,676 2,781,879 191,654

TOTAL Loan Principal Repayments 13,030,746 11,025,000 1,609,474 22,446,272 1,230,691

(a)  Loan Repayments

Actual
Principal

Repayments Principal
Interest

Repayments

Principal
01/07/2006

Drawdowns
2006-07

Current Year
Actual to 

30/06/2007

Current Year
Actual to 

30/06/2007

Current Year
Actual to 

30/06/2007

$ $ $ $ $
Community Amenities
Tamala Park Landfill
Loan 7 - Tamala Park Stage 2 Phase 1 Construction (part fun 1,856,551 0 899,998 956,553 86,227
Loan 8 - Building Upgrade 550,969 0 54,475 496,494 34,269
Loan 9 - Stage 2 Phase 1 Construction (part funding) 1,302,519 0 498,937 803,582 50,732
Loan 12 - Construction Stage 2 Phase 2 4,090,764 10,909,236 416,670 14,583,330 646,313
Regional Resource Recovery Facility
Loan 11 - Resource Recovery Facility Land Purchase 3,428,811 0 99,388 3,329,423 201,407
Loan 10 - Resource Recovery Facility Infrastructure 1,946,672 2,170,402 56,676 4,060,398 156,936

TOTAL Loan Principal Repayments 13,176,286 13,079,638 2,026,144 24,229,780 1,175,884

(b) Overdraft

Council has not utilised an overdraft facility during the financial year although an overdraft of $1,000,000 with the National Bank exists.
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2006/07  
Actual

2005/06  
Actual

$ $

25 FEES AND CHARGES
Community Amenities 16,221,330 12,787,579

16,221,330 12,787,579

26 GRANT REVENUE

Grants and subsidies are included as operating revenues in 
the Income Statement:

By Nature and Type:

Grants and subsidies - operating 5,246 10,898
5,246 10,898

By Program:
Community Amenities 5,246 10,898

5,246 10,898

27 EMPLOYEE NUMBERS

The number of full-time equivalent Employees at balance 
date 35 27
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 2006/07 
Actual  

2006/07 
Budgetg

 2005/06 
Actual

$ $ $

28 COUNCILLORS' REMUNERATION
The following fees, expenses and allowances are to be paid 
to council members and the Chairman

Meeting Fees 21,624 35,140 31,255
Chairman's Allowance 3,409 6,750 3,500
Conference Expenses 0 60,000 10,942
Members Travelling 13,451 12,000 4,711

38,484 113,890 50,408

29 EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION

Salary Range  2006/07  2005/06 

100,000 - 109,999 2 1

Set out below, in bands of 10,000, is the number of employees of the Council entitled to an annual salary of $100,000 or 
more.
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30 INTEREST RATE RISK

Year Ended 30 June 2007 within 1 year 1- 2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years
greater than 5 

years Total

Weighted
Average

Effective Interest 
Rate

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Fixed Rate
Other financial assets 0
Weighted average effective interest rate

Floating Rate
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,786,308 8,786,308 5.33%
Weighted average effective interest rate 5.33%

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Fixed Rate
Borrowings (956,553) (803,582) (22,469,645) (24,229,780) 6.02%
Weighted average effective interest rate 6.15% 5.78% 6 .02%

Year Ended 30 June 2006 within 1 year 1- 2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years
greater than 5 

years Total

Weighted
Average

Effective Interest 
Rate

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
FINANCIAL ASSETS

Fixed Rate
Other financial assets 0
Weighted average effective interest rate

Floating Rate
Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,697,908 2,697,908 6.17%
Weighted average effective interest rate 6.17%

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Fixed Rate

Borrowings (1,856,551) (1,302,519) (10,017,216) (13,176,286) 6.03%

Weighted average effective interest rate 6.15% 5.78% 6.04%

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk:
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2006/07
Actual

2005/06
Actual

$ $

31 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT

Rehabilitation Asset 2,378,719 1,915,253

Rehabilitation Provision 3,428,891 2,436,201

Retained Surplus 13,235,409 9,293,163

Amortisation Charge 3,050,453 1,702,644
22,093,472 15,347,261

The liability for future rehabilitation expenditure has been recognised, in line with the AIFRS, for the first 
time in 2006/07. The adjustment relating to prior years has been made at 1st July 2006, due to the 
existing structure of the Financial Systems and Reporting Tools not practicably allowing the 
adjustment to be made to the prior year balances within the timeframes.   However, the impact on the 
assets, liabilities and retained profits, if the adjustments relating to prior years were made in the 
previous years is summarised below.
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Recycling Centre at Tamala Park.
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A Digestor in operation. Similar technology will
be employed at the Resource Recovery Facility 
in the Neerabup Industrial Area.
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Mindarie Regional Council
Constituent members

Cities of Joondalup, Perth, Stirling, Wanneroo

Towns of Cambridge, Victoria Park, Vincent

Administration Office, Waste Disposal and Recycling Facility -

Tamala Park,  1700 Marmion Avenue, Mindarie WA  6030

PO Box 538,  Joondalup,  Western Australia  6919

Telephone  (08) 9306 6303     Facsimile  (08) 9306 6399

www.mrc.wa.gov.au      email:  reception@mrc.wa.gov.au
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